

Recent Advances in Nuclear Electrophysiology

URL: http://Sail.To/Nuclear_Electrophysiology or http://www.geocities.com/Nuclear_Electrophysiology

Message to Reader of Manuscript:

The internet links are fully spelled because the official format for the chapter is PDF. In the internet version, the long links will be replaced by shortcuts (e.g. only the single word PubMed will be used to replace the PubMed links).

Bustamante, J.O.

The Nuclear Physiology Lab-ITP-UNIT
The Millenium Institute of Nanosciences-CNPq-MCT
Rua B-508, Praia Aruana, Aracaju, SE 49037-610, Brazil
Tel: +55 (079) 9988-4320 Fax: +1 (209) 885-4343 (USA)

E-Mail: jobustamante@yahoo.com URL: http://Go.To/The NPL or

http://www.geocities.com/jobustamante

Key Words/Phrases: nuclear pore, nuclear envelope, ion channel, electrophysiology, patch-clamp, gene activity, gene expression, DNA, RNA; physiological genomics

Symbols: NE, nuclear envelope; INM, inner nuclear membrane; ONM, outer nuclear membrane; NPC, nuclear pore complex; R_{NE} , NE electrical resistance; Γ_{NE} , NE electrical conductance; Γ_{NE} , NPC electrical resistance; Γ_{NE} , NPC electrical conductance; Γ_{NE} , voltage across the NE; Γ_{NE} , electrical current across the NE; Γ_{NE} , voltage at the cytoplasmic side of the NE; Γ_{NE} , voltage at the nucleoplasmic side of the NE; Γ_{NE} , probability of having a number of channels open in a channel population; Γ_{NE} , probability of finding a channel in the open state; Γ_{NE} , probability of finding a channel in the closed state; Γ_{NE} , electron microscopy; Γ_{NE} , endoplasmic reticulum; Γ_{NE} , nuclear hourglass technique

Monday, August 12, 2002

PREFACE

The recent synergism of the Coulter counter principle with patch-clamp for the quantification of macromolecular translocation, as well as the application of nanoporebased electrical and atomic force microscopy techniques for the analysis and manipulation of molecular and supramolecular structures, hold the promise of producing significant contributions in the nanobiotechnology of gene control and expression, DNA and RNA sequencing, cellular cloning, etc. At the moment, two electrophysiological techniques are applied to the whole cell nucleus for the study of its function. One technique, patch-clamp, uses a microscopic approach to directly measure single channel activity at the nuclear envelope. From patch-clamp measurements one derives the macroscopic characteristics. The other technique, the nuclear hourglass, uses a macroscopic approach to indirectly measure the single channel activity at the envelope. From its measurements, the microscopic characteristics are derived. As efforts have just begun to develop microchips for patch-clamp at large scale, and as the postgenomic era has stimulated physiological genomics research, it seems timely to review the basic concepts on which these two leading electrophysiological techniques are based. This review is conceived to complement recent in-depth reviews in the area of nuclear electrophysiology. Finally, for sake of clarity and space, since published cell and molecular biology work in the field is copious (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/htbinpost/Entrez/query?form=4&db=m&term=nuclear+pore+OR+nuclear+pores&dispmax=20), where possible, I have chosen the most relevant and/or the references with easiest internet access and set a cutoff date prior to the year 2000.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACE	2
INTRODUCTION	
EXPERIMENT AND THEORY	
Structural Considerations.	
Basic Principles of Electrophysiological Approaches.	
Patch-Clamp: The Microscopic Approach	
The Nuclear Hourglass Technique, NHT: The Macroscopic Approach	
Identifying Nuclear Pores As The Source For The Recorded Ion Channel Activity	
Identifying Ion Channel Selectivity for Nuclear Ion Channels	17
CONCLUSIONS	
REFERENCES	21
APPENDIX: Measurement Theory	
FIGURES	42

INTRODUCTION

In the turbulent political decade of the 1960s, Loewenstein and colleagues published a series of papers that demonstrated the use of electrophysiological methods for the assessment of nuclear envelope (NE) permeability and, therefore, of nuclear pore complex (NPC) ion conductance (YNPC). The application of electrophysiological approaches to the analysis of nuclear function (i.e. nuclear electrophysiology) was practically discontinued because the measurement of NE resistance (R_{NE}) was carried out with microelectrodes and the concern prevailed with microelectrode plugging during their insertion into the cell and nucleus (recently reviewed in Mazzanti et al., 2001). The electrical approach for the assessment of NE permeability was then resumed when the Nobel prize-winning patch-clamp technique (e.g. Neher and Sakmann, 1991, 1992; Neher, 1992; Sakmann, 1992) was applied to the isolated whole nucleus (Matzke et al., 1990; Mazzanti et al., 1990 - reviewed in Mazzanti et al., 2001). Unfortunately, these patch-clamp investigations were carried out under saline solutions, without the necessary substrates for NPC-mediated macromolecular transport (see, for example, Adam, 2001; Fahrenkrog et al., 2001; Komeili and O'Shea, 2001; Macara, 2001; Ribbeck and Görlich, 2001; Fahrenkrog and Aebi, 2002; Smith et al., 2002). Fortunately, with the recent introduction of naturally occurring living syncytial nuclei (Bustamante, 2002), for patch-clamp and nucleocytoplasmic research, potential questions about lack of substrates are eliminated.

Since 1999, some of the patch-clamp data and their interpretation have been either confirmed, complemented or challenged by an indirect, macroscopic approach for the measurement of γ_{NPC} : the nuclear hourglass technique (NHT - Danker et al., 1999; 2001; Shahin et al., 2001). The NHT derives γ_{NPC} from a simple geometrical formula for electrical resistance, under the assumption of a high-quality seal between the nuclear surface and the tube within which it is placed (a concept reminiscent of the gigaseal that we will discuss later). Thus, due to the indirect nature of the NHT, one must address the same questions raised for the few techniques contemporaries to patch-clamp (e.g. Kostyuk, 1982, 1984; Kostyuk and Krishtal, 1984). Specifically, is the electrolyte leakage or shunt sufficiently low to prevent proper extrapolation to the microscopic world of the single NPC? Or, in electrical circuit terms, is the shunt resistance (R_{shunt}) much higher than the NE resistance (R_{NE})?

The potential benefits of electrical measurements of ion channel activity deriving from NPCs and non-NPCs are great and far-reaching (e.g. Kasianowicz et al., 1996; Matzke and Matzke, 1996; Hanss et al., 1998; Meller et al., 2000; Howorka et al., 2001; Marziali and Akeson, 2001; Matzke et al., 2001; Vercoutere et al., 2001; Wang and Branton, 2001; Fertig et al., 2002; Klemic et al., 2002; Sigworth and Klemic, 2002). Therefore, we must discuss the foundations and the current issues of nuclear electrophysiology. This is especially relevant to patch-clamp data obtained with pipettes placed on the cytoplasmic side of the outer membrane of the NE and to new techniques introduced to assess the macroscopic behavior of the NE. The ideas presented here are aimed at a wide audience (from biologists and clinicians to physicists and engineers). They are also intended to complement reviews presented elsewhere (e.g. Bustamante, 1996; DeFelice and Mazzanti, 1997; Bustamante and Varanda, 1998; Mazzanti et al., 2001).

EXPERIMENT AND THEORY

Structural Considerations

Most of a cell's electrical resistance is due to the resistance of the cell surface membrane: the plasmalemma. In the same manner, most of the electrical resistance of the nucleus is due to the permeability barrier offered by the NE to the movement of physiological ions. however, is more complex than the plasmalemma in several ways (see, for example, Fahrenkrog et al., 2001; Fahrenkrog and Aebi, 2002). The envelope consists of two membranes: the inner and the outer nuclear membranes (INM and ONM, respectively), that delimit a cisterna known as the perinuclear space. The cisterna seems to be a reservoir for important constituents and signaling molecules (e.g. Garner, 2001). Both NE membranes have been shown to contain receptors and pumps similar to those found in the plasmalemma and other organelles: (1) losartan-senstivity angiotensin II receptors (AT₁ – e.g. Booz et al., 1992; Tang et al., 1992; Eggena et al., 1993; Jímenez et al., 1994; Merjan et al., 2001), (2) IP₃ receptors (IP₃R - e.g. Guihard et al., 1997; Adebanjo et al., 2000; Jaimovich et al., 2000; Tovey et al., 2001), (3) ryanodine receptors (RyR – e.g. Adebanjo et al., 1999, 2000; Kapiloff et al., 2001), (4) Na⁺-K⁺pumps (e.g. Garner, 2001), (5) Ca²⁺-pumps (e.g. Rogue et al., 1998; Abrenica and Gilchrist, 2000), etc. (reviewed in Bustamante, 1994b). The ONM contains ribosomes and is continuous with the endoplasmic reticulum, ER. This has led to the idea that, when a patch-clamp pipette is placed at the cytoplasmic side of the NE, the ion channel activity derives only from ONM or ER sources (see Mazzanti et al., 2001). At discrete locations, the NPCs join these two membranes in a manner resembling dual-membrane channels such as gap junction and plasmodesmata ion channels. Under the electron microscope, EM, the large mass of NPCs (over 125 MDa in vertebrates) makes these supramolecular structures the only conspicuous channels in the NE (e.g. Mazzanti et al., 2001). The NPCs are decorated with filaments that protrude into the cytoplasm: the cytoplasmic filaments (e.g. Fahrenkrog et al., 2001; Fahrenkrog and Aebi, 2002). On the nucleoplasmic face, filaments emanating from the NPC form a basket: the nuclear baskets (e.g. Fahrenkrog et al., 2001; Fahrenkrog and Aebi, 2002). The NPC has a large central aqueous channel whose diameter for passive diffusion is in the order of 10 nm. This large nanochannel is present in all structural models of the NPC, whether or not they have a central plug. Some investigators have interpreted the plug as a transporter for macromolecular translocation. The most discriminating structural data on the central plug has been produced with atomic force microscopy (AFM), a technique that uses a molecular-sized tip to image the topology in chemically unfixed preparations (elasticity and other parameters can be imaged but this has yet to be reported for the NE). With AFM, Rakowska et al. (1998) imaged ATP-dependent changes in the central plug whereas Perez-Terzic et al. (1996, 1999) and Wang and Clapham (1999) imaged Ca²⁺-dependent changes in the plug that they interpreted as conformational changes on a plug that forms part of the NPC. The central plug, however, was not seen under AFM when macromolecular transport substrates were provided to the preparation (Stoffler et al., 1999a; reviewed in Stoffler et al., 1999b and Fahrenkrog et al., 2001; Fahrenkrog and Aebi, 2002). Therefore, the controversy on whether the central plug is an integral part of the NPC appears to have reached its final conclusion: the central plug is a macromolecule in transit through the NPC diffusional channel. Accordingly, the Coulter counter principle can be used as a working patch-clamp paradigm, to characterize the dynamics of macromolecular translocation along the

NPC (Bezrukov, 2000). Diffusion through the large channel seems to operate via hydrophobic exclusion (Ribbeck and Görlich, 2002).

A decade ago, peripheral channels for ion diffusion were proposed based on EM reconstruction studies (Hinshaw et al., 1992 – see Fahrenkrog and Aebi, 2002). Corroborating data from other EM laboratories have not been forthcoming. Thus, most recent structural models of NPCs do not incorporate this feature (e.g. Rout and Aitchison, 2001; see review by Fahrenkrog and Aebi, 2002). Peripheral channels are tantamount to interpreting the background or leakage current obtained with the indirect, macroscopic approach of the NHT (Shahin et al., 2001) as the authors have recently interpreted this leakage as resulting from ion flow along these peripheral channels. In contrast, only a single diffusional channel was derived from direct EM observations (Felherr and Akin, 1997) and from high-resolution fluorescence microscopy (Keminer and Peters, 1999). Therefore, when taken together, both EM and fluorescence microscopy do not support the existence of these peripheral channels. Furthermore, since patch-clamp also does not support the existence of the peripheral channels (e.g., Bustamante et al., 1995a, 2000a; Bustamante, 2002), we are forced to analyze the assumptions on which NHT is based.

Basic Principles of Electrophysiological Approaches

As some of the disagreement between patch-clamp and NHT data (existence of peripheral channels, leak or shunt resistance, etc.) appears to originate from different interpretations of the electrical circuit theory, we need to discuss the principles that underlie these two leading techniques of nuclear electrophysiology. I shall, however, refer the reader to other publications that deal with a more in-depth analysis of the general methodology (e.g. DeFelice, 1997; Ypey and DeFelice, 1999). In the end, we shall learn what biologists know well: *that not all in nature is black and white* as formulas and equations would have us believe.

Seminal to the measurement of electrical resistance is Ohm's law which tells us that the movement of positive electrical charges per unit time (i.e. electrical current, I) between two points, say 1 and 2 (i.e. I_{12}), is given by the voltage drop across these two points (V_{12}) divided by the resistance between these two points (R_{12}) :

$$I_{12} = V_{12} / R_{12} \tag{1}$$

In terms of the NE, we have (see also DeFelice and Mazzanti, 1997; Bustamante and Varanda, 1998):

$$I_{NE} = V_{NE} / R_{NE}$$
 or $I_{NE} = \Gamma_{NE} \times V_{NE}$ (2)

where I_{NE} is the electrical current (produced by the flow of ions, the major electrical charge carriers) between the outside and inside faces of the NE, V_{NE} is the voltage drop across these two faces and R_{NE} is the electrical resistance posed by the NE to the ion flow (the inverse of NE

conductance: Γ_{NE}). If $V_{cytoplasm}$ is the voltage on the cytoplasmic side of the NE and $V_{nucleoplasm}$ is the voltage at the nucleoplasmic side of the NE, then:

$$V_{NE} = V_{\text{nucleoplasm}} - V_{\text{cytoplasm}}$$
 (3)

Under no nucleocytoplasmic concentration gradient for the electrical charges (e.g. if K⁺ were the charge carriers, $[K^+]_{cytoplasm} = [K^+]_{nucleoplasm}$, when $V_{cytoplasm} > V_{nucleoplasm}$, positive charges will move toward the nucleoplasm. For negative charges (e.g. Cl⁻, with [Cl⁻]_{cvtoplasm}=[Cl⁻_{nucleoplasm}) their movement will be towards the nuclear exterior. That is, in both cases the electrical current is inward (inward movement of positive electrical charges) although the flow of ions may not be inward if the ions are negative. Thus, one must not confound the direction of the flow (defined as the movement of particles of any charge) with the direction of the ion current (defined as the movement of positive electrical charges). Fig. 1 illustrates the flow of positive charges for V_{cvtoplasm}>V_{nucleoplasm}. When V_{cvtoplasm}<V_{nucleoplasm}, and there is no concentration gradient, the flow of ions is reversed and the currents are outward (negative ions will move inwardly). the absence of gradients for both the chemical potential [K⁺]_{cytoplasm}=[K⁺]_{nucleoplasm}) and the electrical potential (i.e. V_{cytoplasm}=V_{nucleoplasm}) there is no electrical driving force for the charge carriers is absent and there is no ion flow if there is no concentration gradient. Note that, as established in the classical ion channel theory (e.g. Hodgkin and Huxley, 1952 – see Huxley, 2002), the force determining the movement of ions is of electrochemical origin. For an NE patch, the total current due to an ion species X is given by Ohm's law:

$$I_{X} = \Gamma_{X} \left(V_{NE} - V_{X} \right) \tag{4}$$

where Γ_X is the patch conductance for the ionic species X and V_X is the equilibrium potential for this ionic species (also known as Nernst potential, Nernst-Planck potential, etc.). In its simplest form, commonly found in textbooks:

$$V_{X} = (RT/Fz_{X}) \ln ([X_{\text{cytoplasm}}]/[X_{\text{nucleoplasm}}])$$
 (5)

where R is the gas constant, T is the absolute temperature, z_X is the valence of the ion species X, F is the Faraday constant, and $[X_{cytoplasm}]$ and $[X_{nucleoplasm}]$ are, respectively, the concentration of ions on the cytoplasmic and nucleoplasmic sides of the NE. This equation will be relevant to our discussion on ion selectivity, later in this chapter. To date, there appears to be a general agreement that the equilibrium potential for the major electrical charge carriers (e.g. K^+) is negligible (e.g. Bustamante, 1992, 1993; Boehning et al., 2001).

Since ions in solution are the major electrical charge carriers in nuclear electrophysiology, for large preparations generating large currents, two pairs of half-cell electrodes (e.g. Ag-AgCl) are used to avoid effects of electrode polarization due to electrolysis and electrodeposition (e.g.

Sherman-Gold, 1993). For patch-clamp measurements of single ion channel gating, electrode polarization is not a concern due to the low values of the currents generated and, therefore, only two Ag-AgCl electrodes are used (e.g. Sherman-Gold, 1993). The two electrodes are connected to the probe of an instrumentation amplifier that operates like a virtual-ground (an operational amplifier connected in such a manner that forces the input to the ground potential). The electrode used to record current, the one inside the patch-clamp pipette, is forced to a known voltage (for this reason, it is not a virtual ground configuration). The bath electrode is used as reference ($V_{reference} = V_{bath} = 0$). Therefore, the potential difference applied to the NE is the difference between the potential inside the pipette, $V_{pipette}$, and $V_{reference}$. Note, however, the potential experienced by the NE will be influenced by the NE potential when there is no potential applied: the NE resting potential. As mentioned above, so far, the experiments have shown that this potential is negligible under steady-state conditions (when the nucleocytoplasmic concentration difference has had time to dissipate). Consequently, one is to expect that, in patch-clamp, the ion flow will be controlled by $V_{pipette}$ only because $V_{reference} = 0$.

A major problem with any electrophysiological technique is the presence of a leak or shunt resistance (R_{shunt}), in parallel to the target of measurement (the nucleus in our case), through which electrical charge carriers escape. Another problem, dealt with since the times of Hodgkin and Huxley (1952), is the presence of a series resistance (R_{series}) through which there will be a voltage drop proportional to the current. As a result of R_{series} , the resistance offered to the movement of electrical charges is increased by this amount and the resistance that is the target of our measurement (i.e. R_{NE}) is underestimated. In mathematical terms, the resistance measured ($R_{measured}$) is:

$$R_{\text{measured}} = R_{\text{series}} + [(R_{\text{shunt}})^{-1} + (R_{\text{NE}})^{-1}]^{-1}$$
 (6)

As a consequence of the above relationship, there are two golden rules of electrical circuits. First, the measured resistance, $R_{measured}$, of a circuit of resistors in series will always be greater than the value of the largest resistor. Second, and most relevant to our case, the measured resistance, $R_{measured}$, of a circuit of parallel resistors can never be greater than the smallest component resistance: R_{shunt} or R_{NE} .

Finally, other components of the electrical circuit (e.g. access resistance), are of importance but not relevant to our central theme. For this reason, the interested reader should consult the excellent textbooks on the topic (e.g. Sakmann and Neher, 1995).

Patch-Clamp: The Microscopic Approach

The study of native, *in situ* single ion channel behavior was greatly facilitated with the introduction of the patch-clamp technique for the imposition of a voltage gradient across a membrane (i.e. voltage-clamp –see Sakmann & Neher, 1995). Patch-clamp succeeded when the possibility was discovered to attain R_{shunt} in the order of gigaohms ($G\Omega$, 10^9 ohm). The gigaohm value indicated that the seal resistance, R_{seal} , between the tip of the glass pipette and the biological membrane was in the order of $G\Omega$. This seal was henceforth coined *the gigaseal*. This breakthrough took patch-clamp to the spotlight, for the gigaseal was the last remaining requirement for the precise analysis of ion channel function (the other requirements, mainly

concerned with solid-state electronic devices, had been conquered). The gigaseal was not just a mere achievement of a high-valued R_{shunt} for it also dramatically reduced the baseline noise (see Neher's Nobel lecture in Neher and Sakmann, 1991 and Neher, 1992).

$$\sigma_{\text{theoretical}} = (4 \text{ kT } \Delta f)^{1/2} \text{ x } R_{\text{system}}^{-1/2} \text{ from where } R_{\text{system}} = \text{constant x } \sigma_{\text{theoretical}}^{-2}$$
 (7)

where $\sigma_{theoretical}$ is the theoretical current noise of the signal source, k is the Boltzmann constant, T is the absolute temperature (here assumed constant during an experiment), Δf is the frequency bandwidth (also assumed constant), and R_{system} is the resistance of the system (i.e. $R_{measured}$, determined by R_{NE} and R_{shunt} as discussed above). From this equation one reasons that for a bandwidth of 1 kHz, and a 1 pA of ion channel current one should have an $R_{system}>2$ G Ω to guarantee a 10% resolution of the signal (see Neher, 1991). This particular characteristic of the noise in patch-clamp recordings is useful to monitor whether a gigaseal has been attained, even when the NPCs of an NE patch are all simultaneously open and thus the R_{shunt} cannot be measured.

Patch-clamp, reliably measures R_{shunt} and this quantity gives the value of R_{seal} whenever there is no ion channel opening and the membrane is not leaky to ions. However, if we consider the contribution from the ion flow through the channels at the NE (NPCs and channels at the ONM and INM), R_{shunt} is derived from the parallel circuit formed by the seal resistance, R_{seal} , and the NE resistance, R_{NE} .

$$R_{\text{measured}} = R_{\text{shunt}} = [(R_{\text{seal}})^{-1} + (R_{\text{NE}})^{-1}]^{-1}$$
(8)

Thus, when all channels are closed (i.e. $R_{NE} >> 1$), if $R_{measured} > 1$ G Ω , then we can be sure that $R_{seal} > 1$ G Ω . That $R_{seal} > 1$ G Ω in patch-clamp investigations of the NE can be appreciated in the recordings of several patch-clamp publications and, therefore, should not be taken as a mystery (e.g. Bustamante, 1992, 2002). Thus, the patch-clamp researcher is neither required, nor should he/she expect, to have a gigaseal prior to measuring the patch ion conductance if the number of NPCs conducting ions is sufficiently high. One may have to wait for a long time before a simultaneous closing of all the channels is observed (e.g. Bustamante, 2002). For example, if the patch has 2 NPCs of $\gamma_{NPC} = 500$ pS simultaneously open, then the patch ion conductance (Γ_{patch}) would be 1 nS and $R_{measured} \le 1$ G Ω , even if $R_{seal} \ge 10$ G Ω . Likewise, for 10 NPCs of 500 pS simultaneously open, $\Gamma_{patch} = 5$ nS and $R_{measured} \le 0.2$ G Ω , even if $R_{seal} \ge 10$ G Ω . Thus, a general rule for patch-clamp of the NE is that, when all NPCs are open, say N, $R_{measured} \le (N \times \gamma_{NPC})^{-1}$, even if $R_{seal} \ge 10$ G Ω .

Patch-clamp must be applied and interpreted with caution because the structure of the NE is more complicated than that of a single membrane. For example, for the nucleus-attached patch configuration (i.e. pipette tip touching the ONM of a whole nucleus), one has to check that the bath electrode makes a virtual connection with the INM through the nucleoplasm. As shown in **Fig. 2** this can be demonstrated with fluorescence microscopy by placing small fluorescent probes (e.g. 4-kD dextran, 5.4-nm dendrimer) on the cytoplasmic side of the nucleus (Fig. 2a,c) and showing their diffusion into the nucleus (Fig. 2b,d - see Bustamante et al., 2000b;

Bustamante, 2002). Under these conditions, V_{NE} is given by the voltage difference between the bath and pipette electrodes (see discussion above). It then follows that, in the nucleus-attached configuration, if the NPCs are closed then any recorded ion channel activity should derive from sources other than NPCs because these sources should be the pathway to close the circuit between the pipette and bath electrodes. Since I have never seen ion channel activity when the NPCs are closed or plugged (demonstrated by the lack of entry of small dextran and dendrimer particles upon macromolecular transport stimulation - e.g. Bustamante et al., 2000b, Bustamante, 2002), I cannot exclude NPCs as sources of ion channel activity, even when the ion conductance is below 100 pS. For this reason, the ion channel activity may be interpreted as a sub-state for ion conduction of the NPC (Bustamante, 1994a). Under this context, it can then be reasoned that a change in ion activity induced by hormones and other agonists (e.g. angiotensin II, IP₃, ryanodine, etc.) may be the result of either direct or indirect actions, mediated by their corresponding receptors and whatever coupling mechanisms there may be such as G-proteins and Ca²⁺ release feedback. For the excised patch configuration (i.e. pipette tip touching the ONM of a piece of excised NE), the requirement for demonstrating the status of NPC ion conduction remains. Only when we have proven that the NPCs are closed or plugged (e.g. with fluorescence microscopy) can we say that the ion channel activity derives from sources other than NPCs. The understanding of this requirement holds the key to understanding the relationship between NPCmediated nucleocytoplasmic transport of macromolecules and ion channel activity recorded from the NE (i.e. the Rosetta stone of nuclear electrophysiology). Indeed, ever since the first usage of a medium that supported macromolecular transport along NPCs, as well as transcription and translation (e.g. TNT, Promega), it was observed that macromolecular transport along NPCs restricts ion diffusion (Fig. 1 in Bustamante, 1994b; see also Bustamante et al., 1995a-c 2000a,b; Bustamante, 2002). Fig. 2 also illustrates an experimental fluorescence microscopy protocol for the determination of the capacity of NPCs for macromolecular translocation and the role of this phenomenon on NPC ion channel activity (e.g. Bustamante et al., 1995a, 2000a,b; Bustamante, 2002). Briefly, a nuclear-targeted macromolecule (one that contains a nuclear localization signal or NLS) is placed on the cytoplasmic side (Fig. 2e). A convenient probe that I have used (e.g. Bustamante et al., 1995a, 2000a,b; Bustamante, 2002) is the high quantum efficiency Bphycoerythrin (240 kDa, Molecular Probes), conjugated to the NLS of the SV40 large T antigen If the NPCs are capable of macromolecular transport, then the macromolecular probe will go inside the nucleus (Fig. 2f). If not, it will remain outside (Fig. 2e).

The Nuclear Hourglass Technique, NHT: The Macroscopic Approach

When used in the radio frequency range, the same approach used by NHT can produce information on general cellular characteristics such as the nuclear-to-cytoplasmic volume ratio – a parameter relevant to various pathological states of cells (e.g. Coulter International, 1996; Beckmann-Coulter, 2002). The radio frequency currents are electrically transparent to the cell membranes and have the added advantage that they also appear to leave the cells undisturbed (e.g. Coulter International, 1996; Beckmann-Coulter, 2002).

In the NHT (Danker et al., 1999, 2001 – no frequency details given), a known value of current, $I_{injected}$, is injected to the lumen of the capillary tubing and the voltage drop between the two ends of the tubing measured, $V_{measured}$. From these values, the electrical resistance of the system is calculated, $R_{measured}$:

$$R_{\text{measured}} = V_{\text{measured}} / I_{\text{injected}}$$
 (9)

If $I_{injected}$ were constant, then, by simple differentiation, it can be shown that the variation in $V_{measured}$, $\Delta V_{measured}$, caused by the introduction of the nuclei inside the capillary, can be used to calculate the variation in $R_{measured}$, $\Delta R_{measured}$ (ΔR in Danker et al., 1999, 2001):

$$\Delta R_{measured} = \Delta V_{measured} \ / \ I_{injected} \label{eq:delta_R}$$
 (10)

Note, however, that since $I_{injected}$ is alternating when not in the electrophoretic mode (see Danker et al., 2001), the above relationship does not necessarily hold. In setting the foundations for NHT, Danker et al. (1999) depart from the undisputable premise that the measured resistance, $R_{measured}$, is the result of the resistance of the cell nucleus ($R_{nucleus}$) in parallel with R_{shunt} . Although no explicit consideration of R_{series} was made, this seems of no major consequence as the analysis is made with changes in $R_{measured}$ (i.e. $\Delta R_{measured}$ or ΔR) and R_{series} should vary very little upon the introduction of the nucleus inside the tubing.

$$R_{\text{measured}} = R_{\text{series}} + [(R_{\text{shunt}})^{-1} + (R_{\text{nucleus}})^{-1}]^{-1}$$
(11)

$$R_{\text{nucleus}} = \left\{ \left[\Delta R_{\text{measured}}^{-1} - R_{\text{shunt}}^{-1} \right]^{-1} \right\}$$
 (12)

In the NHT R_{shunt} is estimated by using, instead of a nucleus, a stage I whole oocyte of *Xenopus L*. and by applying a direct (rather than alternating) current to increase the value of $R_{measured}$. With their most recent approach (Danker et al., 2001) they arrived at a value of about 650 pS rather than the 1,700 pS previously calculated (Danker et al., 1999). Since their original approach (Danker et al., 1999) has been replaced (Danker et al, 2001), I shall concentrate on their most recent data and their interpretations.

There are several problems with the assumptions made in the NHT. 1st The use of a whole oocyte is an approach that the investigators agreed is controversial (see bottom of page 13532 in Danker et al., 1999). 2nd The surface properties are probably not the same for the oocyte surface membrane and the NE. Therefore, it is likely that stickiness between the NHT tube and membrane surface of the oocyte and its NE are quite different. 3rd The responses to physical and chemical maneuvers (e.g. voltage and antibodies) cannot be assumed to be the same for both the oocyte plasmalemma and the NE. 4th The large body of accumulated experience with similar techniques (e.g. Fishman, 1975; Lopez-Barneo et al., 1981; Kostyuk, 1982, 1984; Kostyuk and Krishtal, 1984) lead us to conclude that the leak in the NHT must be of concern. My own experience (e.g. Bustamante, 1981, 1983; Bustamante and McDonald, 1983 – see Fig. 3 in this paper) is that current injection alone can be used to increase R_{shunt} (a current of opposite polarity usually decreases R_{shunt}). This issue will be revisited later in this chapter. My patch-clamp

observations (e.g. Bustamante et al., 1991; Ruknudin et al., 1993), shared by the patch-clamp community (e.g. Sherman-Gold, 1993) include that current injection alone can be used to increase R_{shunt} , (opposite polarity in $I_{injection}$ usually decreases R_{shunt}). This phenomenon does not require NPC plugging. Therefore, the Aquilles' heel/tendon of the NHT is R_{Shunt} . For this reason and for the significance of the interpretations of NHT data, we must center our attention on NHT justification for the assumptions on R_{shunt} .

In the NHT, a good experiment is defined as one in which the lumen of the capillary neck (thus their terminology of hourglass) has a diameter smaller than the diameter of the nucleus (Danker et al., 2001). This produces two pieces of NE in unrestricted contact with the physiological saline. NHT assumed that the tubing and the nucleus were cylindrical, that the width of gap between the nucleus and the capillary was w, and that the surface of interest between the NE and the tubing wall (the one where they had macroscopic contact) had a length L (L_{gap}), and radii of r (r_{gap}) and r-w (r_{nucleus}), respectively. NHT investigators determined that the electrical conductivities of their saline (κ) and the nucleoplasm (κ ') had the same value of 13.2 mS/cm² (I think that they meant to say mS/cm). Based on the geometry of their system, they arrived at the following formulas.

$$R_{\text{shunt}} = L \kappa^{-1} \pi^{-1} (r^2 - (r - w)^2)^{-1}$$
 (13)

$$R_{\text{nucleus}} = R_{\text{NE}} + R_{\text{intranuclear}} \tag{14}$$

$$R_{\text{intranuclear}} = L \kappa^{-1} \pi^{-1} (r - w)^{-2}$$
(15)

They defined $R_{replaced}$ as the resistance of the space replaced by the nucleus and the shunt. Thus:

$$R_{\text{replaced}} = L \kappa^{-1} \pi^{-1} r^{-2}$$
 (16)

From these formulas, they derived the formula for R_{NE} :

$$R_{NE} = ((\Delta R + R_{replaced})^{-1} - R_{shunt}^{-1})^{-1} - R_{intranuclear}$$
(17)

NHT also assumed that all measurement errors are negligible, except for w, because "they can be easily measured with fair resolution" (Danker et al., 2001 – but see Appendix in this paper). Note, however, that NHT proponents did not consider that in the intact NE, the NPCs have protrusions into the cytoplasm (the cytoplasmic filaments discussed above). These protrusions may have interfered with the surface scan of their AFM probe or may have collapsed during isolation of the oocyte nucleus. Furthermore, as these investigators previously showed with AFM (Danker et al., 1997), their Xenopus L. oocyte nucleus was contaminated with ER and

by other structural features. It must be added that transmission EM demonstrates that the NE surface is not a smooth surface (e.g. Feldherr and Akin, 1997; Panté and Kann, 2001). Therefore, it would appear that the gap width, w, used in the mathematical model of Danker et al. (2001) could have been better, and much more easily evaluated, with readily available fluorescent probes (e.g. calibration probes from Molecular Probes).

NHT investigators concluded that $R_{shunt}>50$ $R_{nucleus}$ (i.e. $R_{shunt}>>R_{NE}$) and that their measurement error was as small as 3.1% (Danker et al., 2001 – but, again, see Appendix in this paper). Since the calculations carried out by them are the basis for their justification, they deserve a close scrutiny. From their calculations, with L=270 μ m, r=135 μ m, w=1 μ m and κ =13.2 mS/cm² (not mS/cm as it should be) one has R_{shunt} = 24,000 Ω .m. When the correct units for conductivity (i.e. mS/cm) one obtains 2.4 M Ω .

Fig. 4a shows a curve drawn with the expected values from the contributions to NE resistance of the NE areas involved (the caps created by squeezing the nucleus inside the hourglass region of the tube). Please, note that this curve is not drawn according to Danker et al. (1999, 2001). Say that the surface density of ion conducting NPCs, σ_{NPC} , is 10 NPCs/μm² and that the single NPC channel conductance, γ_{NPC} , is 500 pS. These values are in the order of the most recent data from Oberleithner's group: γ_{NPC} (Danker et al., 2001) and σ_{NPC} (Schäfer et al., 2002). The conductance of an NE segment, Γ_{NE} , is determined by σ_{NPC} , γ_{NPC} and by the area of the NE surface, A_{NE} :

$$\Gamma_{NE} = \sigma_{NPC} \times A_{NE} \times \gamma_{NPC}$$
 (18)

When A_{NE} is $10{,}000~\mu m^2$, Γ_{NE} will be 10^{-5} S and R_{NE} will be $20~k\Omega$. If we now consider that there are two electrically resistive surfaces connected in series, then the contribution of these two segments of the NE will be $40~k\Omega$. Values of R_{NE} computed with this approach are given in Fig. 4a for radii of the NE caps (areas in unrestricted contact with the saline) between 5 and $100~\mu m$. As shown in Fig. 4a, R_{NE} values ranged between 12.7 $k\Omega$ and 5.1 $M\Omega$. That is, they never fell below $10~k\Omega$.

Fig. 4b shows curves predicted by NHT formula for R_{shunt} (Danker et al., 2001), using the conductivity of 10 mS.cm⁻¹ and the geometry for patch-clamp and NHT. As seen from Fig. 4b, according to the NHT model, R_{shunt} should very high, never be below 1 M Ω . Contrasting their theoretical calculations are my unpublished observations on R_{shunt} made during the experiments I carried out between 1980 and 1990 with adult cardiac myocytes and with cultured neuroblastoma cells (e.g. Bustamante 1981, 1983, 1985, 1989; Bustamante and McDonald, 1983). It is very likely that contemporary investigators using pipettes and tubes for voltage-clamp had similar experience to mine but that, like me, considered them of no scientific relevance. The value of R_{shunt} that I obtained when I perfused the tubing with physiological saline was in the order of 1 M Ω while a cell was placed inside the small hole of the intracellular perfusion tubing (Fig. 3). When I used the NHT formula to calculate the R_{shunt} expected for my intracellular perfusion experiments with human heart atrial myocytes (e.g. Bustamante and McDonald, 1983), I obtained a value of 40.8 M Ω for L= 5 μ m, r = 2 μ m, and w=0.1 μ m. As I used enzymatic digestion for the isolation of the myocytes (e.g. Bustamante et al., 1981, 1982a,b), the membrane coat or glycocalyx was greatly removed and, therefore, the gap width between the cell surface

and the tubing should certainly be in the nanometer scale (see EM images in Bustamante et al., 1981, 1982a). Perhaps, more telling about the correctness of the model is that when I applied the NHT formula for the calculation of R_{shunt} for cell-attached patch-clamp experiments, the mathematical prediction was that the indirect macroscopic approach of NHT had a significantly better seal than patch-clamp. Fig. 4b shows the expected values of R_{shunt} for patch-clamp and NHT, as a function of the gap width, w, gap lengths (L_{gap}) fixed to 100 and 0.1 μ m, respectively, and gap radius (r_{gap}) fixed to 100 and 1 μ m, respectively. The conductivity of the fluid was set to 10 mS.cm⁻¹ and, therefore, its resistivity (ρ_{fluid}) was fixed at 100 Ω .cm.

Fig. 5 shows how chemical and physical maneuvers can be used simultaneously to eliminate the current leak. In the specific experiment with adult human heart myocyte (Bustamante, 1980 - unpublished), R_{shunt} was dramatically increased upon replacement of Cl⁻ in the intracellular perfusion with F⁻ and of K⁺ with Cs⁺. This maneuver also facilitated the study of Na⁺-channel currents by blocking other ion channel currents (e.g. Bustamante and McDonald, 1983).

The computations using the NHT formula demonstrate that there must be other physical and/or chemical factors that were not considered in the mathematical modeling of R_{shunt}. One simple explanation is that their simplifying formulas were originally conceived for systems of larger dimensions and/or for diluted solutions and, consequently, these formulas are valid when there is no molecular crowding and interactions, and other chemical and physical principles that take effect at the molecular level. Indeed, the conclusions presented here are supported by their very own measurements of R_{shunt} when they used the whole oocytes in stage I (Danker et al., 1999). Their reported values for R_{shunt} were greater than 30 k Ω , a value that contradicts my computations with their formula when the dimensions for conductivity are corrected (i.e. geometrical formula predicts values greater than 1 M Ω – see Danker et al., 2001). Other explanations may also be given. 1st Their injected currents produced voltage drops of opposite polarities at each of the two NE caps in unrestricted contact with the saline solution. According to their observations, the currents produced readily observable changes in the chromatin structure, suggesting NE alterations. 2nd The voltage drop caused by their currents could be substantial and could have caused irreversible damage of the NE, leading to an artificially leaky NE. Indeed, if their rationale that R_{shunt}>>R_{NE}, were correct, then most of injected current would flow through the NE and, with their minimal value of $I_{injected}$ of 100 μA (maximal of 1,000 μA in Danker et al., 1999; 200 µA in Danker et al., 2001), they would have caused a voltage drop with a lower limit of about 1,000 mV when R_{NE} was 10 k Ω (see calculations for R_{NE} in the following paragraph). In my experience, the NE from adult cardiac myocytes and cancer cells cannot withstand voltages greater than ±50 mV for tens of seconds (Danker et al., 2001 injected currents for several tens of seconds). This observation has prompted me to favor the use of 2-s voltage pulses in my experiments (e.g. Bustamante et al., 1995, 2000a,b). 3rd Their placement of the nucleus inside the tubing may have caused unnatural stretch-induced channel openings or closings (e.g. Bustamante et al., 1991; Ruknudin et al., 1993). This concept is supported by my unpublished observations of stretch-sensitive NE channels. 4th Their experimental system lacked control of the voltage across the NE, both spatially and temporally (e.g. Johnson and Lieberman, 1971) because some of the currents have an inactivation-like mechanism (e.g. Bustamane, 1992).

A conclusion made with NHT that deserves our attention is the data interpreted as supporting the existence of the diffusional channels peripheral to the large central channel of the NPC (Danker et al., 1999, 2001; Shahin et al., 2001; Schäfer et al., 2001 - see Mazzanti et al., 2001). If valid, the conclusion leads to the interpretation of the function of these putative channels as

alternate pathways for passive ion transport during macromolecular plugging of the NPC (see Mazzanti et al., 2001). However, the accumulated experimental data from patch-clamp as well as from pipette- and tubing-based voltage-clamp techniques suggest that the electrical leak in NHT is not negligible (see above discussion). Since the current NHT model does not fit the experimental observations (see Fig. 4), the interpretation of the leak current as originating from peripheral channels will require further experimental, and not theoretical, work. This conflict between experiment and theory does not arise when the patch-clamp technique is applied to the cell nucleus because no published patch-clamp data supports the existence of these channels. Indeed, since EM shows that NPCs has a preferred 8-fold geometry (see Fahrenkrog and Aebi, 2002), one is to expect that if there were 8 identical channels peripheral to the large central NPC channel, then one should observe a statistical probability function with 8 peaks corresponding to 8 identical channels per NPC (or to a multiple of 8) if these peripheral ion channels function independently of one another. Instead, such a probability function has never been observed (e.g. Bustamante, 1992). Let us see the statistical basis for this prediction.

For a steady-state system consisting of 8 identical units (the putative peripheral channels are identical) fluctuating or *gating* (in the biophysical sense) between 2 states (say fully open and fully closed) with two fixed or quantized values (say 0 and 500 pS, corresponding to the open and closed states, respectively), we have a distribution of peaks (each peak described by a normal distribution) that is described by the binomial distribution:

$$P_{\text{open}}(n) = [N! / n! (N-n)!] p_{\text{open}}^{n} (1-p_{\text{open}})^{N-n}$$
(19)

where P_{open} is the open probability of the channel population, p_{open} is the probability that a channel opens, N is the total number of functional ion channels (whether open or closed) and n is the number of ion conducting, open channels (see Bustamante, 1992). Excellent simulation tools for the discrete binomial distribution function, and for its analog continuous function (normal distribution), are currently available in the internet (e.g. Narasimham, 2002; Stark, 2002). For a two state channel system, the probability that a channel is open, p_{open} , plus its probability of being closed (p_{closed}) should always be one. Note that, as originally conceived (see Hinshaw et al, 1992), these 8 peripheral channels are permanently open. Therefore, a constant current (i.e. very similar to a technical artifact caused by electrical leak or shunt) should be recorded. This is also not observed in patch-clamp experiments.

Fig. 6a shows simulations of the probability function histograms for a population of 4, 8, 16 and 24 identical independent channels with 2 states: open and closed, and for conditions in which popen is 50% and 75%. The 4, 8, 16 and 24 values of N would correspond to 0.5, 1, 2 and 3 times the number of peripheral channels assumed to exist in an NPC. Note that each bar in the histogram corresponds to a current level (here set to an arbitrary unity, say 400 pA) plus its variation (here half the unit value, say 200 pA). That is, the bar graphs correspond to superimposed normal distributions. Thus, for example, for the 4-channel histogram (half the population of peripheral channels of an NPC) we would have 4 normal, bell-shaped curves (see Bustamante, 1992). As shown by panel b of Fig. 6, the experimental data does not support the existence of these peripheral channels because one never records such a Popen.

As mentioned at the beginning of this chapter, an additional source of confusion is the fact that many patch-clamp recordings are carried out in the nucleus-attached mode, a procedure in which the tip of the patch-clamp pipette is placed against the outermost NE membrane, the ONM. Clearly, if the NPCs were permanently closed or plugged, the ion channel activity recorded in this mode would have to come necessarily from ion channels at the ONM. Instead, it has been shown with fluorescence microscopy that when nuclei are bathed in saline, small particles such as dextrans and dendrimers do enter the nucleus (Bustamante et al., 2000a,b; Bustamante, 2002). Therefore, due to the large contribution of NPCs to nucleocytoplasmic ion flow, electrophysiological measurements must be validated with an independent technique, such as fluorescence microscopy, to test the state of conduction of the NPC population. While one should not be skeptic about the existence of important ion channels at the ONM and INM (e.g. Rousseau et al., 1996; Franco-Obregon et al., 2000; Guihard et al., 2000; Valenzuela et al., 2000; Boehning et al., 2001; see Mazzanti et al., 2001), to avoid potential conflict with prevalent cell biology concepts, the ion channel investigator using whole nucleus must prove that NPCs are excluded as the source of ion channel activity. Note that this is not required for those using artificial systems such as lipid bilayers. Fig. 7 illustrates both large and small conductance ion channel activity detected with patch-clamp from NE patches of Dunning G prostate cancer cells (Bustamante, unpublished – see also Bustamante et al., 2000a). In my experience, the small conductance ion channel activity is a rare event (in the order of 1 in 100 experiments). It is not clear whether the small conductance ion channel activity results from a partially occluded NPC or whether it is a genuine sub-state for ion conduction along the NPC. That it cannot correspond to the hypothetical peripheral channels is seen by the fact that the value of the small conductance activity is not an 8th of the large conductance value. The small conductance activity may also be interpreted as a sub-state of the channel (Bustamante, 1994a). Finally, the low probability with which I observe these small ion channel openings may be due to the fact that my techniques produce isolated nuclei with NPCs capable of macromolecular transport. In fact, I recently showed in intact living syncytial nuclei that when the extranuclear environment is replaced with saline, the final state of the NPCs is one of 100% open probability (Bustamante, 2002).

Identifying Nuclear Pores As The Source For The Recorded Ion Channel Activity

Although all electrophysiological observations are of great value, perhaps the most relevant to current cell and molecular biology is the possibility of quantifying NPC gating and transport capacity with electrophysiological techniques. Since the techniques for the analysis of ion channels other than NPCs are standard to channels found in other cellular structures (recently reviewed in Mazzanti et al., 2001), it seems more productive for us to focus on the description of how can we tell that NPCs, and not other channels, are responsible for the observed ion channel behavior.

As discussed above, the fact that the recording patch-clamp pipette is placed on the cytoplasmic face of the NE may be taken to mean that the recorded ion channel activity derives from ion channels from the ONM. To determine if this is indeed the case, one must carry out the fluorescence microscopy tests described above (see Fig. 2) for determining the capability of NPCs for the passive diffusion of ions and for the active transport of macromolecules. It is important to note that NPCs appear to require the integrity of the NE for leak of its cisterna (i.e. the perinuclear space) will result in the impairment of NPC-mediated macromolecular transport (e.g. by Ca²⁺ loss – see Bustamante, 1994b, Bustamante et al., 1994). To further support that the

source of ion channel activity are the NPCs, one may apply an NPC monoclonal antibody that has been shown effective on blocking ion channel activity (Bustamante et al., 1995a; Prat and Cantiello, 1996). Finally, one may use the concept developed for other preparations that the organelle-targeted proteins block ion channel activity (e.g. Thieffry et al., 1992; Lohret and Kinnally, 1995; Pelleschi et al., 1997; Teter and Theg, 1998; Heins et al., 2002 – see reviews by Neuhaus and Wagner, 2000; Bölter and Soll, 2001) which, in our case, would be macromolecules known to contain nuclear localization signals (NLS) or artificially conjugated to contain an NLS (Bustamante et al., 1995a, 2000a,b; Bustamante, 2002 - see Fig. 2). To determine whether ER channels are present in the patch from which one is recording activity from fewer simultaneous channel openings than the NPC surface density (e.g. less than 5 channel openings when the NPC density is 10 per µm²), one may use puromycin to clear out protein conducting channels of the ER from nascent proteins (Simon and Blobel, 1991). In my hands, however, the application of puromycin to NE patches has neither resulted in the appearance of new, added ion channels nor in the alteration of the recorded ion channel activity (e.g. Bustamante et al., 1995a – Bustamante, unpublished data). It is for these reasons that, under these conditions, it is possible to state without hesitation that the observed derives from NPCs and not from other structures. Therefore, patch-clamp is a useful tool to investigate and quantify NPC function. One should expect that NHT would also be very useful (like the loose patchclamp technique has been) once independently supported with the fluorescence microscopy tests that I proposed above and illustrated in Fig. 2.

Identifying Ion Channel Selectivity for Nuclear Ion Channels

So far, it appears that only K⁺, under normal conditions, is the major charge carrier for currents purportedly resulting from the NPC (e.g. Bustamante, 1992, 1993). IP₃R-operated channels have been assigned Ca²⁺ selectivity (Boehning et al., 2001). Selectivity for Cl⁻ has been assigned to channels from other preparations (e.g. Franco-Obregón et al., 2000; Valenzuela et al., 2000 – see Mazzanti et al., 2001 for a complete list). To estimate the selectivity of an ion channel one departs from the concept that, in a complex system, the equilibrium or resting potential is given by the relative contributions of each ion species diffusing through the channel:

$$V_{\text{system}} = \sum C_j V_j \tag{20}$$

where C_j and V_j are, respectively, the relative conductance coefficient and the equilibrium potential for the j^{th} ion species. Note that the equilibrium potential of a system can be measured as the value of potential at which the current reverses direction. For this reason, this potential is also known as the reversal potential ($V_{reversal}$). The relative conductance coefficient, C_j , is given by:

$$C_j = G_j/G_{total}$$
 and $G_{total} = \sum G_j$ (21)

where G_{total} is the sum of all the relative coefficients.

One next has to take into account the fact that the permeability is a quantity that refers to particles and not to charges (this is the reason why we have the valence of the ion in the Nernst equation). Therefore, the results have to be calibrated accordingly. For a system consisting of K^+ and Ca^{2+} ions, one has, according to the Goldman-Hodgkin-Katz equation (see Hille, 2001):

$$V_{reversal} = (RT/F) ln\{(P_K[K^+]_{cytoplasm} + 2P_{Ca} [Ca^{2^+}]_{cytoplasm})/(P_K[K^+]_{nucleoplasm} + 2P_{Ca} [Ca^{2^+}]_{nucleoplasm})\}$$

$$(22)$$

where the sub-index for each parameter indicates the compartment to which one refers to. Note that if there were an electrogenic pump (an ATP-dependent mechanism that generates an electrical current during exchange of ions between the two sides of the membrane), an additional term would have to be added or subtracted to the factor containing the permeabilities. So far, no report has appeared on electrogenic pump of the NE.

To simplify the biophysical analysis, one uses bi-ionic conditions (e.g. Hille, 2001). Bi-ionic conditions mean that, at one side of the membrane one replaces the reference ion (e.g. K⁺) with the tested ion (e.g. Ca²⁺). Thus, bi-ionic conditions do not appear to be a friendly environment for NPCs. The reversal potential under bi-ionic conditions is then used with the equation to determine the permeability ratio for the two ion species tested. Thus, for K⁺ and Ca²⁺:

$$V_{\text{reversal}} = (RT/F) \ln\{(P_K[K^+]_{\text{cytoplasm}})/(2P_{\text{Ca}}[Ca^{2+}]_{\text{nucleoplasm}})\}$$
(23)

Using this approach, Boehning et al. (2001) determined that K^+ was 15 times more permeant than $C\Gamma$ and that Ca^{2+} was 4 times more permeant than K^+ . Note, however, that the bi-ionic conditions used for the calculation of Ca^{2+} permeability relative to K^+ , Boehning et al. (2001) used 50 mM Ca^{2+} . The use of this high level of Ca^{2+} may be too extreme for the NE to handle. Indeed, Stehno-Bittel et al. (1995) reported that Ca^{2+} levels higher than 1 mM destroyed the NE of *Xenopus L*. oocytes. Therefore, it would appear that a less stressful approach would be to still use the two ions but under less demanding conditions for the NE structure (i.e. using the more complex equation 22).

One must also be careful when making ion replacements because this maneuver may seriously affect the junction potentials caused by ion species difference (a phenomenon similar to the potentials developed at metal junctions such as those created when copper and aluminum are joined). Therefore, one has to correct for this with a proper equation (e.g., Neher, 1995; Barry, 2002). But variations of divalent ions like Ca²⁺ are known to affect the surface charge of the cell membranes and this effect alone can affect the voltage sensed by the ions, having greater effect with larger variations (e.g. Ehrenstein, 2001).

There is also a pharmacological approach to identifying the selectivity of an ion channel. This may be useful when considering the questions just mentioned. For example, drugs known to block CI-channels were used to identify the activity recorded from hepatocyte nuclei (e.g. Tabares et al., 1991) and heparin, a favorite probe for blocking IP₃R-operated channels, was also used to identify the ion channel activity (e.g. Boehning et al., 2001). The pharmacological

approach, like others, has also its drawbacks. Thus, for example, the once though specific Ca²⁺-antagonists drugs were shown to be less than specific and the hunt has always been for specific drugs and/or definitions of channels according to the pharmacological blocker (e.g. Bustamante, 1983, 1985 – Bustamante, unpublished observations; Ren et al., 2001). Heparin is another example of a pharmacological tool that must be used with caution for it is used to extract fractions from the NE (e.g. Strambio-de-Castillia et al., 1995; Rout and Field, 2001) and has been shown to alter ion channel behavior (e.g. Knaus et al., 1990; Krasilnikov et al., 1999). Taken together, it appears that one should exercise extreme care when using pharmacological tools with the NE, and specially, when recording from whole nucleus.

CONCLUSIONS

Four decades have passed since the first publication on NE electrical resistance (e.g. Loewenstein et al., 1962). Since 1990, efforts in applying patch-clamp to the cell nucleus (Matzke et al., 1990; Mazzanti et al., 1990) have led us through an arduous path that promises to fuse electrophysiology with the cell/molecular biology of the nucleus. Despite the efforts, however, some questions remain to be solved before the electrophysiological observations can be applied to other fields (see Bustamante, 2001).

One vexing problem discussed here is that of the shunt resistance, R_{shunt}, another is the identification of the source for the recorded ion channel activity. Ever since the time that Nobel laureates Hodgkin and Huxley introduced the voltage-clamp technique, R_{shunt} has been a parameter to reckon with (see Hodgkin and Huxley, 1963). The application of glass capillaries and plastic tubes for the recording of ionic currents has met the challenge with certain preparations because the input impedance of the system (preparation together with the pipette/tubing) has been shown to be sufficiently high (e.g. Kostyuk, 1982, 1984; Kostyuk and Krishtal, 1984). The achievement of this high impedance has been possible, in many preparations, with the usage of un-physiological ions such as fluoride (e.g. Kostyuk, 1982, 1984; Kostyuk and Krishtal, 1984). It is for this reason that patch-clamp has succeeded in popularity over these alternate techniques. I have no doubt about the merit of the NHT approach (see introductions in Danker et al., 1999, 2001). However, the major vexing problem challenging the NHT is that there is no frame of reference but a leak current that can not be assumed to derive from channels peripheral to the NPC. A justification similar to that of the NHT was used for the loose patch-clamp (e.g. Almers et al., 1983; 1984; Anson and Roberts, 1998 – see review by Roberts and Almers, 1992). As originally conceived, this technique was applied to the study of voltage-dependent plasmalemmal Na⁺-channels. The loose patch-clamp technique could be validated because the behavior of these Na⁺-channels were well established. At difference from pipettes and tubing techniques used in the past for the recording of classical voltage-dependent ion currents (e.g. Bustamante and McDonald, 1983) the macroscopic ion currents through NPC populations look very much like leak currents (e.g. Bustamante, 1992, 1993, 1994a; Bustamante et al., 1995a; 2000a,b). As discussed here, a solution to this current limitation of both the NHT and of some of the patch-clamp data being produced is the incorporation of fluorescence microscopy, an approach not uncommon to many electrophysiological laboratories working with isolated cells (e.g. Bustamante et al., 1995a, 2000a,b; Bustamante, 2002). The major criticism on the artificiality of patch-clamp experiments due to the physiological solutions used without NPCmediated macromolecular substrates appears to have found a remedy with the recent introduction of living syncytial nuclei in their native environment (Bustamante, 2002). In addition, the new

preparation demonstrates a high rate of macromolecular transport as well as of transcription and translation. This was shown by their transport of nuclear-targeted proteins and by their expression of foreign cDNA for the green fluorescent protein (GFP – Bustamante, 2002). It must be noted that, when the NPCs of this intact preparation are engaged in macromolecular transport, both patch-clamp and fluorescence microscopy (low-sensitivity CCD – Bustamante, 2002 and unpublished observations) show that the NE restricts the diffusion of monoatomic ions and of small fluorescent particles such as 4 kDa dextrans and 5.4 nm diameter dendrimers (Bustamante, 2002). This observation requires further testing with high-sensitive light detectors since it challenges the dominant thinking of NPCs freely permeable to monoatomic ions. This dominant thinking has been consolidated, in recent years, with data from permeabilized cells, from isolated nuclei in cell extract, and from cells and nuclei injected with micropipettes. Therefore, as done for patch-clamp experiments identifying NPC ion channel behavior (e.g. Bustamante, 2002; Bustamante et al., 1995a-c, 2000a,b), NHT experiments could greatly benefit from the integration of fluorescence microscopy approaches. The advanced level of progress of the fluorescence microscopy industry (e.g. Molecular Probes) should facilitate this integration.

The identification (i.e. inclusion or exclusion) of the NPC as the source of ion channel activity appears to be of great importance. The electrophysiological thinking, which has been mostly biophysical and pharmacological, must be complemented with the accumulated knowledge of nucleocytoplasmic experts in cell and molecular biology. If NPCs engaged in heavy macromolecular traffic do indeed block physiological ions (e.g. Bustamante et al., 1995a; Bustamante, 2002), then many of the phenomena observed on nucleocytoplasmic gradients of ions will no longer need to be considered a technical artifact and may receive undivided The application of single-channel statistics and the molecular Coulter counter principle (e.g. Bezrukov, 2000) has conferred electrophysiological methods with high hopes for the study of not only functional but also structural genomics (e.g. Kasianowicz et al., 1996; Matzke and Matzke, 1996; Hanss et al., 1998; Meller et al., 2000; Howorka et al., 2001; Marziali and Akeson, 2001; Vercoutere et al., 2001; Wang and Branton, 2001; Fertig et al., 2002; Klemic et al., 2002; Sigworth and Klemic, 2002). Since several diseases have been reported to be connected to nuclear structures relevant to NPCs (e.g. Nagano and Arahata, 2000; Wilson, 2000; Berry et al., 2001; Burke et al., 2001; Hutchison et al., 2001; Invernizzi et al., 2001; Morris, 2001; Mounkes et al., 2001; Raharjo et al., 2001; Arbustini et al., 2002;), electrophysiological measurements may be also relevant to future tools for the diagnosis of cellular pathologies (see Bustamante, 2001).

I thank Dr. Timm Danker (University of Münster) for discussing with me the R_{shunt} and other technical issues of his NHT. This work was supported by a grant from the Millenium Science Initiative of the Brazilian National Research Council (CNPq) of the Ministry of Science and Technology (MCT) and a Senior Scientist Scholarship from the same.

REFERENCES

Abrenica, B., and J.S. Gilchrist. 2000. Nucleoplasmic Ca²⁺ loading is regulated by mobilization of perinuclear Ca²⁺. *Cell Calcium* 28:127-136.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=10970769&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.idealibrary.com/servlet/citation/0143-4160/28/127

Adam, S.A. 2001. The nuclear pore complex. Genome Biology 2:0007.1-0007.6.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11574060&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required (Free for Reviews):

http://genomebiology.com/retriever.asp?url=/2001/2/9/reviews/0007/

Adebanjo, O.A., H.K. Anandatheerthavarada, A.P. Koval, B.S. Moonga, G. Biswas, L. Sun, B.R. Sodam, P.J. Bevis, C.L. Huang, S. Epstein, F.A. Lai, N.G. Avadhani, M. Zaidi. 1999. A new function for CD38/ADP-ribosyl cyclase in nuclear Ca²⁺ homeostasis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 1:409-414.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=10559984&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.nature.com/cgi-

taf/DynaPage.taf?file=/ncb/journal/v1/n7/abs/ncb1199 409.html&dynoptions=doi1024067580

Adebanjo, O.A., G. Biswas, B.S. Moonga, H.K. Anandatheerthavarada, L. Sun, P.J. Bevis, B.R. Sodam, F.A. Lai, N.G. Avadhani, and M. Zaidi. 2000. Novel biochemical and functional insights into nuclear Ca²⁺ transport through IP₃Rs and RyRs in osteoblasts. *Am. J. Physiol. Renal Physiol.* 278:F784-F791. **PubMed Abstract:**

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=10807590&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://ajprenal.physiology.org/cgi/content/full/278/5/F784

Almers, W., W.M. Roberts, and R.L. Ruff. 1984. Voltage clamp of rat and human skeletal muscle: measurements with an improved loose-patch technique. *J. Physiol.* 347:751-768.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=6323705&dopt=Abstract

Almers, W., P.R. Stanfield, and W. Stühmer. 1983. Lateral distribution of sodium and potassium channels in frog skeletal muscle: measurements with a patch-clamp technique. *J. Physiol.* 336:261-284. **PubMed Abstract:**

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=6308223&dopt=Abstract

Anson, B.D., and W.M. Roberts. 1998. A novel voltage clamp technique for mapping ionic currents from cultured skeletal myotubes. *Biophys. J.* 74:2963-2972.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=9635750&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.biophysj.org/cgi/content/full/74/6/2963

Arbustini, E., A. Pilotto, A. Repetto, M. Grasso, A. Negri, M. Diegoli, C. Campana, L. Scelsi, E. Baldini, A. Gavazzi, and L. Tavazzi. 2002. Autosomal dominant dilated cardiomyopathy with atrioventricular block: a lamin A/C defect-related disease. *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.* 39:981-990.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11897440&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/utils/fref.fcgi?http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S073510970 2017242

Baird, D.C. 1988. Experimentation, an introduction to measurement theory and experiment design. Second edition. Prentice-Hall, New York

Barford, N.C. 1985. Experimental measurements: precision, error and truth. Second Edition. John Wiley & Sons, New York

Barry, P.H. 2002. Junction Potential Calculator. Axon Instruments, Inc.

Internet Link:

http://www.axon.com/Junction Potential.htm

Beckmann-Coulter (2002) Coulter 3-D VCS Technology.

Note: This website is in PDF format. For an HTML format, see Coulter International (2002).

Full Text - Free:

http://www.beckmancoulter.com/resourcecenter/literature/PDF/ClinDiag/ss000125.pdf

Berry, D.A., A. Keogh, and C.G. dos Remedios. 2001. Nuclear membrane proteins in failing human dilated cardiomyopathy. *Proteomics* 1:1507-1512.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11747209&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/utils/fref.fcgi?http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/1615-9861(200111)1:12<1507::AID-PROT1507>3.0.CO;2-Z

Bezrukov, S.M. 2000. Ion channels as molecular coulter counters to probe metabolite transport. *J. Membr. Biol.* 174:1-13.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=10741427&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://link.springer-ny.com/link/service/journals/00232/bibs/0174001/01740001.html

Boehning, D., S.K. Joseph, D.O. Mak, and J.K. Foskett. 2001. Single-channel recordings of recombinant inositol trisphosphate receptors in mammalian nuclear envelope. *Biophys. J* 81:117-124.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11423400&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.biophysj.org/cgi/content/full/81/1/117

Bölter, B., and J. Soll. 2001. Ion channels in the outer membranes of chloroplasts and mitochondria: open doors or regulated gates? *EMBO J.* 20:935-940.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11230117&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://emboj.oupjournals.org/cgi/content/full/20/5/935

Booz, G.W., K.M. Conrad, A.L. Hess, H.A. Singer, and K. M. Baker. 1992. Angiotensin-II-binding sites on hepatocyte nuclei. *Endocrinology* 130:3641-3619.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=1597161&dopt=Abstract

Burke, B., L.C. Mounkes, and C.L. Stewart. 2001. The nuclear envelope in muscular dystrophy and cardiovascular diseases. *Traffic* 2:675-683.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11576443&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/utils/fref.fcgi?http://www.blackwell-synergy.com/rd.asp?abbrev=Traffic&vol=2&page=675&goto=abstract

Bustamante, J.O. 1981. Internal dialysis-induced alterations of the action potential recorded from single adult cardiocytes. *Proc. VII Internat. Biophys. Congr.* Mexico, DF, August 23-28, p 334.

Bustamante, J.O. 1983. Rate- and voltage-dependent block of cardiac and neuroblastoma sodium currents by D600. *Proc.* 26th Ann. Meet. Canadian Fed. Biol. Soc. Ottawa, June 13-17, p 114.

Bustamante, J.O. 1985. Block of sodium currents by the calcium antagonist D600 in human heart cell segments. *Pflügers Arch.* 403:225-227.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=2580273&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O. 1987. Modification of sodium channel currents by lanthanum and lanthanide ions in human heart cells. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 65:591-597.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=2440537&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O. 1989. Depression of cardiac sodium channel conductance by atrial natriuretic peptide. *In Diuretics III: Chemistry, Pharmacology and Clinical Applications. Proc. Third Internat. Conf. Diuretics.* April 2-7, Mexico City, Mexico, 1989, pp. 589-5974. Elsevier, New York. eds. J.B. Puschett and A. Greenberg.

Bustamante, J.O. 1991. An inexpensive inverted microscope for patch-clamp and other electrophysiological studies at the cellular level. *Pflügers Arch.* 418:608-610.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=1945752&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O. 1992. Nuclear ion channels in cardiac myocytes. *Pflügers Arch.* 421:473-485.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=1281311&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O. 1993. Restricted ion flow at the nuclear envelope of cardiac myocytes. *Biophys. J.* 64:1735-1749.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=7690256&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O. 1994a. Open states of nuclear envelope ion channels in cardiac myocytes. *J. Membr. Biol.* 138:77-89.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=7514669&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O. 1994b. Nuclear electrophysiology. J. Membr. Biol. 138:105-112.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=7529321&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O. 1996. The Nuclear Physiology Lab. (Internet homepage for the author's laboratory with additional material. Frequently updated with references and new published data).

Homepage:

http://Go.To/The_NPL or http://www.geocities.com/jobustamante

Bustamante, J.O. 2001. Nuclear transport methods. *In* Nuclear Import and Export In Plants and Animals. Eds. T. Tzvira and V.H. Citovsky. Landes Bioscience/Eureka.Com (Internet web-based book to be published in hardcopy in July 2002).

Full Text:

http://www.eurekah.com/chapter.php?chapid=618&bookid=55&catid=15

Bustamante, J.O. 2002. Nuclear pore ion channel activity in live syncytial nuclei. *Pflügers Arch.* 444:286-290.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11976942&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://link.springer.de/link/service/journals/00424/bibs/24441-2/24440286.htm

Bustamante, J.O., J.A. Hanover, and A. Liepins. 1995a. The ion channel behavior of the nuclear pore complex. *J. Membr. Biol.* 146:239-251.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=8568839&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O., A. Liepins, and J.A. Hanover. 1994. Nuclear pore complex ion channels. *Mol. Membr. Biol.* 11:141-150.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=7538009&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O., A. Liepins, R.A. Prendergast, J.A. Hanover, and H. Oberleithner. 1995b. Patch clamp and atomic force microscopy demonstrate TATA-binding protein (TBP) interactions with the nuclear pore complex. *J. Membr. Biol.* 146:263-272.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=8568841&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O., E.R. Michelette, J.P. Geibel, D.A. Dean, J.A. Hanover, and T.J. McDonnell. 2000a. Calcium, ATP and nuclear pore channel gating. *Pflügers Arch.* 439:433-444.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=10678739&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://link.springer-ny.com/link/service/journals/00424/contents/99/00189/index.html

Bustamante, J.O., E.R. Michelette, J.P. Geibel, J.A. Hanover, T.J. McDonnell, and D.A. Dean. 2000b Dendrimer-assisted patch-clamp sizing of nuclear pores. *Pflügers Arch*. 439:829-837.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=10784359&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://link.springer-ny.com/link/service/journals/00424/contents/99/00233/index.html

Bustamante, J.O., H. Oberleithner, J.A. Hanover, and A. Liepins. 1995c. Patch clamp detection of transcription factor translocation along the nuclear pore complex channel. *J. Membr. Biol.* 146:253-261. **PubMed Abstract:**

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=8568840&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O., A. Ruknudin and F. Sachs. 1991. Stretch-activated channels in heart cells: relevance to cardiac hypertrophy. *J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol.* 17:S110-S113.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=1715454&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O., and T.F. McDonald. 1983. Sodium currents in segments of human heart cells. *Science* 220:320-321.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=6301004&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O., and W.A. Varanda. 1998. Patch-clamp detection of macromolecular translocation along nuclear pores. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 31:333-354.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=9698781&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Free:

http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci arttext&pid=S0100-879X1998000300003&lng=en&nrm=iso

Bustamante, J.O., T. Watanabe, and T.F. McDonald. 1981. Single cells from adult mammalian heart: isolation procedure and preliminary studies. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 59:907-910.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=7296390&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O., T. Watanabe, and T.F. McDonald. 1982a. Nonspecific proteases: a new approach to the isolation of adult cardiocytes. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 60:997-1002.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=6290017&dopt=Abstract

Bustamante, J.O., T. Watanabe, D.A. Murphy, and T.F. McDonald. 1982b. Isolation of single atrial and ventricular cells from the human heart. *Can. Med. Assoc. J.* 126:791-793.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=6280828&dopt=Abstract

Coulter International (2002) Coulter 3-D VCS Technology. [Note that this company fused with Beckmann – see Beckmann-Coulter (2002). This website is maintained by Purdue University Cytometry Laboratories.]

Full Text - Free:

http://scooter.cyto.purdue.edu/pucl_cd/flow/vol2/6/coulter/ss000125.htm

Danker, T., H. Schillers, J. Storck, V. Shahin, B. Kramer, M. Wilhelmi, and H. Oberleithner. 1999. Nuclear hourglass technique: an approach that detects electrically open nuclear pores in Xenopus laevis oocyte. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 96:13530-13535.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=10557355&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/96/23/13530

Danker, T., M. Mazzanti, R. Tonini, A. Rakowska, and H. Oberleithner. 1997. Using atomic force microscopy to investigate patch-clamped nuclear membrane. *Cell Biol. Int.* 21:747-757.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=9768473&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.idealibrary.com/servlet/citation/1065-6995/21/747

Danker, T., V. Shahin, A. Schlune, C. Schäfer, and H. Oberleithner. 2001. Electrophoretic plugging of nuclear pores by using the nuclear hourglass technique. *J. Membr. Biol.* 184:91-99.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11719846&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://link.springer-ny.com/link/service/journals/00232/bibs/1184002/11840091.html

DeFelice, L.J. 1997. Electrical Properties of Cells: Patch-Clamp for Biologists. Plenum Press, New York, NY, 244pp.

DeFelice, L.J., M. Mazzanti. 1997. Biophysics of the nuclear envelope. *In* Cell Physiology Source Book, 2nd ed. N. Sperelakis (ed.), Academic Press, London, 481-498.

Eggena, P., J.H. Zhu, K. Clegg, and J.D. Barrett. 1993. Nuclear angiotensin receptors induce transcription of renin and angiotensinogen mRNA. *Hypertension* 22:496-501. **PubMed Abstract:**

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=8406654&dopt=Abstract

Ehrenstein, G. 2001. Surface Charge. *In* Biophysics Textbook On-Line, L.J. DeFelice, ed. Biophysical Society, Bethesda, Maryland.

Full Text – Free:

http://www.biophysics.org/btol/

Fahrenkrog, B., and U. Aebi. 2002. The vertebrate nuclear pore complex: from structure to function. *Results Probl. Cell Differ.* 35:25-48.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11791407&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.mih.unibas.ch/Publications/Aebi/Fahrenkrog/2002-Review1/2002-Review1.pdf

Fahrenkrog, B., D. Stoffler, and U. Aebi. 2001. Nuclear pore complex architecture and functional dynamics. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 259:95-117.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11417129&dopt=Abstract

Feldherr, C.M., and D. Akin. 1997. The location of the transport gate in the nuclear pore complex. *J. Cell Sci.* 110:3065-3070.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=9365276&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://jcs.biologists.org/cgi/reprint/110/24/3065

Fertig, N., R.H. Blick, J.C. Behrends. 2002. Whole cell patch clamp recording performed on a planar glass chip. *Biophys. J.* 82:3056-3062.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=12023228&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.biophysj.org/cgi/content/full/82/6/3056

Fishman, H.M. 1975. Patch voltage clamp of squid axon membrane. *J. Membr. Biol.* 24:265-277. **PubMed Abstract:**

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=1214276&dopt=Abstract

Franco-Obregón, A., H.W. Wang, and D.E. Clapham. 2000. Distinct ion channel classes are expressed on the outer nuclear envelope of T- and B-lymphocyte cell lines. *Biophys. J.* 79:202-214.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=10866948&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.biophysj.org/cgi/content/full/79/1/202

Garner, M.H. 2001. Na,K-ATPase in the nuclear envelope regulates Na⁺:K⁺ gradients in hepatocyte nuclei. *J. Membr. Biol.* 187:97-115.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=12029368&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://link.springer-ny.com/link/service/journals/00232/contents/01/0160/index.html

Guihard, G., S. Proteau, and E. Rousseau. 1997. Does the nuclear envelope contain two types of ligand-gated Ca²⁺ release channels? *FEBS Lett.* 414:89-94.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=9305738&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0014579397009496

Guihard, G., S. Proteau, M.D. Payet, D. Escande, and E. Rousseau. 2000. Patch-clamp study of liver nuclear ionic channels reconstituted into giant proteoliposomes. *FEBS Lett.* 476:234-239.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=10913620&dopt= Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science?_ob=GatewayURL&_origin=inwardhub&_urlversion=4&_method =citationSearch&_piikey=S001457930001752X&_version=1&md5=95a42c73ee3a8c998c34ee9e0d3a10 56

Hanss, B., E. Leal-Pinto, L.A. Bruggeman, T.D. Copeland, and P.E. Klotman. 1998. Identification and characterization of a cell membrane nucleic acid channel. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 95:1921-1926.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=9465118&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/95/4/1921

Heins, L., A. Mehrle, R. Hemmler, R. Wagner, M. Kuchler, F. Hormann, D. Sveshnikov, and J. Soll. 2002. The preprotein conducting channel at the inner envelope membrane of plastids. *EMBO. J.* 21:2616-2625.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=12032074&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://emboj.oupjournals.org/cgi/content/full/21/11/2616

Hille, B. 2001. Ionic Channels of Excitable Membranes. 3rd Ed. Sinauer Associates Inc., Sunderland, MA, 722p.

Abstract from Publisher:

http://www.sinauer.com/detail.php?id=3212

Hinshaw, J.E., B.O. Carragher, and R.A. Milligan. 1992. Architecture and design of the nuclear pore complex. *Cell* 69:1133-1141.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=1617726&dopt=Abstract

Hodgkin, A.L., and A.F. Huxley. 1952. A quantitative description of membrane current and its application to conduction and excitation in nerve. *J. Physiol. (Lond.)* 117:500-544.

Howorka, S., S. Cheley, and H. Bayley. 2001. Sequence-specific detection of individual DNA strands using engineered nanopores. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 19:636-639.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11433274&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.nature.com/cgi-

taf/DynaPage.taf?file=/nbt/journal/v19/n7/abs/nbt0701 636.html&dynoptions=doi1023271204

Hutchison, C.J., M. Alvarez-Reyes, and O.A. Vaughan. 2001. Lamins in disease: why do ubiquitously expressed nuclear envelope proteins give rise to tissue-specific disease phenotypes? *J. Cell Sci.* 114:9-19. **PubMed Abstract:**

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11112685&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Free:

http://jcs.biologists.org/cgi/reprint/114/1/9.pdf

Huxley, A.F. 2002. Hodgkin and the action potential 1935-1952. J. Physiol. (Lond.) 538(Pt 1):2.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11773311&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.jphysiol.org/cgi/content/full/538/1/2

Hodgkin, A.L., and A.F. Huxley. 1963. The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine. (Nobel lectures and additional material from the Nobel Foundation).

Full Text - Free:

http://www.nobel.se/medicine/laureates/1963/

Invernizzi, P., M. Podda, P.M. Battezzati, A. Crosignani, M. Zuin, E. Hitchman, M. Maggioni, P.L. Meroni, E. Penner, and J. Wesierska-Gadek. 2001. Autoantibodies against nuclear pore complexes are associated with more active and severe liver disease in primary biliary cirrhosis. *J. Hepatol.* 34:366-372. **PubMed Abstract:**

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11322196&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/utils/fref.fcgi?http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S016882780 0000404

Jaimovich, E., R. Reyes, J.L. Liberona, J.A. Powell. 2000. IP₃ receptors, IP₃ transients, and nucleus-associated Ca²⁺ signals in cultured skeletal muscle. *Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol.* 278:C998-C1010.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=10794674&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://ajpcell.physiology.org/cgi/content/full/278/5/C998

Jiménez, E., G.P. Vinson, and M. Montiel. 1994. Angiotensin II (AII)-binding sites in nuclei from rat liver: partial characterization of the mechanism of AII accumulation in nuclei. *J. Endocrinol.* 143:449-453.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=7836889&dopt=Abstract

Johnson, E.A., and M. Lieberman. 1971. Heart: excitation and contraction. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 33:479-532.

Kanno, Y., R.F. Ashman, and W.R. Loewenstein. 1965. Nucleus and cell membrane conductance in marine oocytes. *Exp. Cell Res.* 39:184-189.

Kapiloff, M.S., N. Jackson, and N. Airhart. 2001. mAKAP and the ryanodine receptor are part of a multi-component signaling complex on the cardiomyocyte nuclear envelope. *J. Cell Sci.* 114:3167-3176. **PubMed Abstract:**

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11590243&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://jcs.biologists.org/cgi/content/full/114/17/3167

Kasianowicz, J.J., E. Brandin, D. Branton, and D.W. Deamer. 1996. Characterization of individual polynucleotide molecules using a membrane channel. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 93:13770-13773. **PubMed Abstract:**

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=8943010&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/93/24/13770

Keminer, O., and R. Peters. 1999. Permeability of single nuclear pores. *Biophys. J.* 77:217-228.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=10388751&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.biophysj.org/cgi/content/full/77/1/217?ijkey=CYdMxTMl1CYaU

Klemic, K.G., J.F. Klemic, M.A. Reed, and F.J. Sigworth. 2002. Micromolded PDMS planar electrode allows patch clamp electrical recordings from cells. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 17:597-604.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11959483&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science?_ob=GatewayURL&_origin=inwardhub&_urlversion=4&_method =citationSearch&_piikey=S0956566302000155&_version=1&md5=c5789e9d14c690020f7c93eb10a8a89 f

Knaus, H.G., F. Scheffauer, C. Romanin, H.G. Schindler, and H. Glossmann. 1990. Heparin binds with high affinity to voltage-dependent L-type Ca2+ channels. Evidence for an agonistic action. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265:11156-11166.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=2162834&dopt=Abstract

Komeili, A., and E.K. O'Shea. 2001. New perspectives on nuclear transport. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 35:341-364.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11700287&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://genet.annualreviews.org/cgi/content/full/35/1/341

Kostyuk, P.G. 1982. Intracellular perfusion. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 5:107-120.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=6280573&dopt=Abstract

Kostyuk, P.G. 1984. Intracellular perfusion of nerve cells and its effects on membrane currents. *Physiol. Rev.* 64:435-454.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=6324252&dopt=Abstract

Kostyuk, P.G., and A.O. Krishtal. 1984. Intracellular Perfusion of Excitable Cells. IBRO Hanbook Series: Methods in the Neurosciences Vol. 5. John Wiley & Sons, New York.

Krasilnikov OV, Merzlyak PG, Yuldasheva LN, Rodrigues CG, Nogueira RA. 1999. Heparin influence on alpha-staphylotoxin formed channel. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1417:167-182.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=10076045&dopt=Abstract

Loewenstein, W.R. 1965. Permeability of a nuclear membrane: changes during normal development and changes induced by growth hormone. *Science* 150:909-910.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=5837111&dopt=Abstract

Loewenstein, W.R., and Y. Kanno. 1962. Some electrical properties of the membrane of a cell nucleus. *Nature* 195:462-464.

Loewenstein, W.R., Y. Kanno, and S. Ito. 1966. Permeability of nuclear membranes. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 137:708-716.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=5229822&dopt=Abstract

Lohret, T.A., and K.W. Kinnally. 1995. Targeting peptides transiently block a mitochondrial channel. *J. Biol. Chem.* 270:15950-15953.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=7608149&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Free:

http://www.jbc.org/cgi/content/full/270/27/15950?ijkey=C1wKyyKtTWQI.

Lopez-Barneo, J., D.R. Matteson, and C.M. Armstrong. 1981. Currents recorded through small areas of squid axon membrane with an internal virtual ground voltage clamp. Biophys. J. 36:811-815.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=7326334&dopt=Abstract

Macara, I.G. 2001. Transport into and out of the nucleus. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 65:570-594. **PubMed Abstract:**

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11729264&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://mmbr.asm.org/cgi/content/full/65/4/570?view=full&pmid=11729264

Marziali, A., and M. Akeson. 2001. New DNA sequencing methods. *Annu. Rev. Biomed. Engr.* 3:195-223.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=11447062&dopt= Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://bioeng.annualreviews.org/cgi/content/full/3/1/195

Matzke, M., W. Aufsatz, W. Gregor, J. van Der Winden, I. Papp, and A.J. Matzke. 2001. Ion transporters in the nucleus? *Plant Physiol*. 127:10-13.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11553729&dopt=Abstract

Full Text:

http://www.plantphysiol.org/cgi/content/full/127/1/10?view=full&pmid=11553729

Matzke, M.A., and A.J.M. Matzke. 1996. Electric fields and the nuclear membrane. *Bioessays* 18:849-850.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=8967891&dopt=Abstract

Full Text:

http://www.bioessays.demon.co.uk/1996/bio1045.htm

Matzke, A.J., T.M. Weiger, and M.A. Matzke. 1990. Detection of a large cation-selective channel in nuclear envelopes of avian erythrocytes. *FEBS Lett.* 271:161-164.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www4.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/htbin-post/Entrez/query?uid=1699797&form=6&db=m&Dopt=r

Mazzanti, M., J.O. Bustamante, and H. Oberleithner. 2001. Electrical dimension of the nuclear envelope. *Physiol. Rev.* 81:1-19.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/htbin-post/Entrez/query?uid=11152752&form=6&db=m&Dopt=b Full Text - Free:

http://physrev.physiology.org/cgi/content/full/81/1/1

Mazzanti, M., L.J. DeFelice, J. Cohn, and H. Malter. 1990. Ion channels in the nuclear envelope. *Nature* 343:764-767

PubMed Abstract:

http://www4.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/htbin-post/Entrez/query?uid=2304551&form=6&db=m&Dopt=r

Meller, A., L. Nivon, E. Brandin, J. Golovchenko, and D. Branton. 2000. Rapid nanopore discrimination between single polynucleotide molecules. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 97:1079-1084.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=10655487&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/97/3/1079

Merjan, A.J., C.A. Kanashiro, J.E. Krieger, S.W. Han, and A.C. Paiva. 2001. Ligand-induced endocytosis and nuclear localization of angiotensin II receptors expressed in CHO cells. *Braz. J. Med. Biol. Res.* 34:1175-1183.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11514842&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci arttext&pid=S0100-879X2001000900011&lng=en&nrm=iso

Morris, G.E. 2001. The role of the nuclear envelope in Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. *Trends Mol. Med.* 7:572-577.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11733221&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/utils/fref.fcgi?http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S147149140 1021281

Mounkes, L.C., B. Burke, and C.L. Stewart. 2001. The A-type lamins: nuclear structural proteins as a focus for muscular dystrophy and cardiovascular diseases. *Trends Cardiovasc. Med.* 11:280-285.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11709282&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/utils/fref.fcgi?http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S105017380 1001268

Nagano, A., and K. Arahata. 2000. Nuclear envelope proteins and associated diseases. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 13:533-539

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11073359&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/utils/fref.fcgi?http://www.co-neurology.com/article.asp?ISSN=1350-7540&VOL=13&ISS=5&PAGE=533

Narasimham, B. 2002. Homepage. Stanford University.

General Homepage:

http://www-stat.stanford.edu/~naras/

URL with Binomial Simulation Java Applet:

http://www-stat.stanford.edu/~naras/jsm/example5.html

[Note: In this page, the number of trials would correspond to the number of channels in the patch and the probability of success to the p_{open} .]

Neher, E. 1992. Ionic channels for communication between and within cells. *Science* 256:498-502. (Nobel lecture).

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=1373906&dopt=Abstract

Neher, E. 1995. Voltage offsets in patch-clamp experiments. *In* Single-Channel Recording. 2nd Ed. B. Sakmann, and E. Neher, editors. Plenum Press, New York. 147-153.

Neher, E., and B. Sakmann. 1991. The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine. (Nobel lectures and additional material from the Nobel Foundation).

Full Text - Free:

http://www.nobel.se/medicine/laureates/1991/

Neher, E., and B. Sakmann. 1992. The patch-clamp technique. Sci. Am. 266:44-51.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=1374932&dopt=Abstract

Neuhaus, H.E., and R. Wagner. 2000. Solute pores, ion channels, and metabolite transporters in the outer and inner envelope membranes of higher plant plastids.

Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1465:307-323.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=10748262&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0005273600001462

Panté, N., and M. Kann. 2001. Nuclear pore complex is able to transport macromolecules with diameters of ~39 nm. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 13:425-434.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11854401&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.molbiolcell.org/cgi/content/full/13/2/425

Perez-Terzic, C., J. Pyle, M. Jaconi, L. Stehno-Bittel, and D.E. Clapham. 1996. Conformational states of the nuclear pore complex induced by depletion of nuclear Ca²⁺ stores. *Science* 273:1875-1877.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=8791595&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

 $http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/content/full/273/5283/1875?maxtoshow=\&HITS=10\&hits=10\&RESULTFORMAT=\&author1=Clapham+D\&searchid=1023447531240_4322\&stored_search=\&FIRSTINDEX=0\&fdate=10/1/1995\&tdate=6/30/2002$

Perez-Terzic, C., A.M. Gacy, R. Bortolon, P.P. Dzeja, M. Puceat, M. Jaconi, F.G. Prendergast, and A. Terzic. 1999. Structural plasticity of the cardiac nuclear pore complex in response to regulators of nuclear import. *Circ. Res.* 84:1292-1301.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=10364567&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Free:

http://circres.ahajournals.org/cgi/content/full/84/11/1292

Prat, A.G., H.F. Cantiello. 1996. Nuclear ion channel activity is regulated by actin filaments. *Am. J. Physiol.* 270:C1532-C1543.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www4.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/htbin-post/Entrez/query?uid=8967456&form=6&db=m&Dopt=r

Pelleschi, M., J.P. Henry, and M. Thieffry. 1997. Inactivation of the peptide-sensitive channel from the yeast mitochondrial outer membrane: properties, sensitivity to trypsin and modulation by a basic peptide. *J. Membr. Biol.* 156:37-44.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=9070462&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://link.springer-ny.com/link/service/journals/00232/bibs/156n1p37.html

Raharjo, W.H., P. Enarson, T. Sullivan, C.L. Stewart, and B. Burke. 2001. Nuclear envelope defects associated with LMNA mutations cause dilated cardiomyopathy and Emery-Dreifuss muscular dystrophy. *J. Cell Sci.* 114:4447-4457.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11792810&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://jcs.biologists.org/cgi/content/full/114/24/4447

Rakowska, A., T. Danker, S.W. Schneider, and H. Oberleithner. 1998. ATP-induced shape change of nuclear pores visualized with the atomic force microscope. *J. Membr. Biol.* 163:129-136.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=9592077&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://link.springer-ny.com/link/service/journals/00232/bibs/163n2p129.html

Ren, D., B. Navarro, H. Xu, L. Yue, Q. Shi, and D.E. Clapham. 2001. A prokaryotic voltage-gated sodium channel. *Science* 294:2372-2375.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11743207&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/content/full/294/5550/2372

Ribbeck, K., and D. Görlich. 2001. Kinetic analysis of translocation through nuclear pore complexes. *EMBO J.* 20:1320-1330.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=11250898&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Free:

http://emboj.oupjournals.org/cgi/content/full/20/6/1320?ijkey=r3733PV.PxYO6

Ribbeck, K., and D. Görlich. 2002. The permeability barrier of nuclear pore complexes appears to operate via hydrophobic exclusion. *EMBO J.* 21:2664-2671.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=12032079&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://emboj.oupjournals.org/cgi/content/full/21/11/2664

Roberts, W.M., and W. Almers. 1992. Patch voltage clamping with low-resistance seals: loose patch-clamp. *Methods Enzymol.* 207:155-176.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=1382182&dopt=Abstract

Rogue, P.J., J.P. Humbert, A. Meyer, S. Freyermuth, M.M. Krady, and A.N. Malviya. 1998. cAMP-dependent protein kinase phosphorylates and activates nuclear Ca²⁺-ATPase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 95:9178-9183.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=9689054&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Free:

http://www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/95/16/9178

Rousseau, E., C. Michaud, D. Lefebvre, S. Proteau, and A. Decrouy. 1996. Reconstitution of ionic channels from inner and outer membranes of mammalian cardiac nuclei. *Biophys. J.* 70:703-714.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=8789087&dopt=Abstract

Rout, M.P., J.D. Aitchison. 2001. The nuclear pore complex as a transport machine. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276:16593-16596.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=11283009&dopt= Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.jbc.org/cgi/content/full/276/20/16593

Rout, M.P., and M.C. Field. 2001. Isolation and characterization of subnuclear compartments from *Trypanosoma brucei. J. Biol. Chem.* 276:38261-38271.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=11477078&dopt=Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.jbc.org/cgi/content/full/276/41/38261

Ruknudin, A., F. Sachs, and J.O. Bustamante. 1993. Stretch-activated ion channels in tissue-cultured chick heart. *Am. J. Physiol.* 264:H960-H972.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=7681265&dopt=Abstract

Sakmann, B. 1992. Ionic channels for communication between and within cells. *Science* 256:503-512. (Nobel lecture).

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=1373907&dopt=Abstract

Sakmann, B., and E. Neher. 1995. Single-channel recording. 2nd Edition. Plenum, New York **Max-Planck Institute Homepage:**

http://sun0.mpimf-heidelberg.mpg.de/en/history/history head01.htm

Schäfer, C., V. Shahin, L. Albermann, M.J. Hug, J. Reinhardt, H. Schillers, S.W. Schneider, and H. Oberleithner. 2002. Aldosterone signaling pathway across the nuclear envelope. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 99:7154-7159

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11983859&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/99/10/7154

Movie - AFM Imaging of Nuclear Pore Plugging:

http://www.pnas.org/content/vol0/issue2002/images/data/092140799/DC1/1407Movie1.gif

Shahin, V., T. Danker, K. Enss, R. Ossig, and H. Oberleithner. 2001. Evidence for Ca²⁺- and ATP-sensitive peripheral channels in nuclear pore complexes. *FASEB. J.* 15:1895-1901.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11532969&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.fasebj.org/cgi/content/full/15/11/1895

Sherman-Gold, R. 1993. The Axon Guide for Electrophysiology & Biophysics: Laboratory Techniques. Axon Instruments, Inc. Foster City, CA.

Full Text - Free:

http://www.axon.com/MR Axon Guide.html

Sigworth, F.J., and K.G. Klemic. 2002. Patch clamp on a chip. Biophys. J. 82:2831-2832.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=12023207&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.biophysj.org/cgi/content/full/82/6/2831

Simon, S.M., and G. Blobel. 1991. A protein-conducting channel in the endoplasmic reticulum. *Cell* 91:371-380.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/htbin-post/Entrez/query?uid=1902142&form=6&db=m&Dopt=b

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.cell.com/cgi/content/abstract/65/3/371

Smith, A.E., B.M. Slepchenko, J.C. Schaff, L.M. Loew, and I.G. Macara. 2002. Systems analysis of Ran transport. *Science* 295:488-491.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11799242&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.sciencemag.org/cgi/content/full/295/5554/488

Stark, P.B. 2002. SticiGui: Statistics Tools for Internet and Classroom Instruction with a Graphical User Interface. University of California at Berkeley

General Homepage:

http://stat-www.berkeley.edu/users/stark/SticiGui/index.htm

URL with Binomial Simulation Java Applet:

http://stat-www.berkeley.edu/users/stark/Java/BinHist.htm

[Note: In this page, n corresponds to the total number of channels, N, and p to p_{open}. Each bar in the graph would correspond to the normal distribution for a particular ion current level.]

Stehno-Bittel, L., C. Perez-Terzic, and D.E. Clapham. 1995. Diffusion across the nuclear envelope inhibited by depletion of the nuclear Ca²⁺ store. *Science* 270:1835-1838.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=8525380&dopt=Abstract

Stoffler, D., K.N. Goldie, B. Feja, and U. Aebi. 1999a. Calcium-mediated structural changes of native nuclear pore complexes monitored by time-lapse atomic force microscopy. *J. Mol. Biol.* 287:741-752. **PubMed Abstract:**

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=10191142&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.idealibrary.com/links/citation/0022-2836/287/741

Stoffler, D., B. Fahrenkrog, and U. Aebi. 1999b. The nuclear pore complex: from molecular architecture to functional dynamics. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 11:391-401.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=10395558&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/cbb308

Strambio-de-Castillia, C., G. Blobel, and M.P. Rout. 1995. Isolation and characterization of nuclear envelopes from the yeast Saccharomyces. *J. Cell Biol.* 131:19-31.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=7559775&dopt=Abstract

Tabares, L., M. Mazzanti, and D.E. Clapham. 1991. Chloride channels in the nuclear envelope. *J. Membr. Biol.* 123:49-54.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=1723103&dopt=Abstract

Tang, S.S., H. Rogg, R. Schumacher, and V.J. Dzau. 1992. Characterization of nuclear angiotensin-II-binding sites in rat liver and comparison with plasma membrane receptors. *Endocrinology* 131:374-380. **PubMed Abstract:**

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=1612017&dopt=Abstract

Teter, S.A., and S.M. Theg. 1998. Energy-transducing thylakoid membranes remain highly impermeable to ions during protein translocation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 95:1590-1594.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/htbin-post/Entrez/query?uid=9465060&form=6&db=m&Dopt=b Full Text – Free:

http://www.pnas.org/cgi/content/full/95/4/1590

Thieffry, M., J. Neyton, M. Pelleschi, F. Fevre, and J.P. Henry. 1992. Properties of the mitochondrial peptide-sensitive cationic channel studied in planar bilayers and patches of giant liposomes. *Biophys. J.* 63:333-339.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=1384736&dopt=Abstract

Tovey, S.C., P. de Smet, P. Lipp, D. Thomas, K.W. Young, L. Missiaen, H. De Smedt, J.B. Parys, M.J. Berridge, J. Thuring, A. Holmes, and M.D. Bootman. 2001. Calcium puffs are generic InsP₃-activated elementary calcium signals and are downregulated by prolonged hormonal stimulation to inhibit cellular calcium responses. *J. Cell Sci.* 114:3979-3989.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=11739630&dopt= Abstract

Full Text – Free:

http://jcs.biologists.org/cgi/content/full/114/22/3979

Valenzuela, S.M., M. Mazzanti, R. Tonini, M.R. Qiu, K. Warton, E.A. Musgrove, T.J. Campbell, and S.N. Breit. 2000. The nuclear chloride ion channel NCC27 is involved in regulation of the cell cycle. *J. Physiol.* 529:541-552.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=retrieve&db=pubmed&list_uids=11195932&dopt= Abstract

Full Text - Free:

http://www.jphysiol.org/cgi/content/full/529/3/541

Vercoutere, W., S. Winters-Hilt, H. Olsen, D. Deamer, D. Haussler, and M. Akeson. 2001. Rapid discrimination among individual DNA hairpin molecules at single-nucleotide resolution using an ion channel. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 19:248-252.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11231558&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.nature.com/cgi-

taf/DynaPage.taf?file=/nbt/journal/v19/n3/abs/nbt0301 248.html&dynoptions=doi1023272069

Wang, H., and D. Branton. 2001. Nanopores with a spark for single-molecule detection. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 19:622-623.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=11433269&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.nature.com/cgi-taf/DynaPage.taf?file=/nbt/journal/v19/n7/full/nbt0701 622.html

Wang, H., and D.E. Clapham. 1999. Conformational changes of the in situ nuclear pore complex. *Biophys. J.* 77:241-247.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=10388753&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Free:

http://www.biophysj.org/cgi/content/full/77/1/241

Wilson, K.L. 2000. The nuclear envelope, muscular dystrophy and gene expression. *Trends Cell Biol.* 10:125-129.

PubMed Abstract:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&list_uids=10740265&dopt=Abstract

Full Text – Subscription Required:

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/utils/fref.fcgi?http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S096289249 9017080

Ypey, D.L., and L.J. DeFelice. 1999. The patch-clamp technique: a theoretical and practical introduction using simple electrical equivalent circuits. *In* Biophysics Textbook On-Line, L.J. DeFelice, ed. Biophysical Society, Bethesda, Maryland.

Full Text – Free:

http://www.biophysics.org/btol/

APPENDIX: Measurement Theory

Common to all measurements is the fact that errors add up, they never cancel each other (e.g. Barford, 1985; Baird, 1988). To illustrate this principle of physical measurements, let us take the simple example of the error made in deriving the area of a rectangle, A_{rectangle}, from its width, W, and length, L. That is,

$$A_{\text{rectangle}} = W \times L \tag{24}$$

In order to derive the relative error, we can apply the L'Hospital rule:

$$\log (A_{\text{rectangle}}) = \log (W \times L) = \log(W) + \log(L)$$
(25)

Note that the logarithm is taken due to the differential calculus properties of this function (see next equation).

$$(\Delta A_{\text{rectangle}}/A_{\text{rectangle}}) = |(\Delta W/W)| + |(\Delta L/L)|$$
(26)

Note also that the absolute values (indicated by the vertical bars) are taken because errors always add up; they do not cancel each other.

Likewise, the error made in calculating the area of a circle, A_{circle}, of radius r is

$$A_{circle} = \pi r^2 \tag{27}$$

applying the L'Hospital rule:

$$\log (A_{\text{circle}}) = \log (\pi r^2) = \log(\pi) + 2 \log(r)$$
(28)

$$(\Delta A_{\text{circle}}/A_{\text{circle}}) = 2 | (\Delta r/r) |$$
(29)

Thus, for the above formulas, the relative error in the calculated quantity equals the sum of the absolute values of the individual relative errors. From the above it is clear that with smaller quantities, the greater the relative resulting error. This concept must be used for proper assessment of the relative error in R_{shunt} , whether patch-clamp or NHT. In the end, we have to apply common sense to decide what the error is. For example, even if our statistical error in

 A_{circle} is 0.000001%, (e.g. as a result of a large number of measurements) if our relative error is 10%, our final error (the one we must report to other scientists) cannot be better than 10%. In the particular case of patch-clamp or NHT, since we have to consider the complex geometry and forces for the molecular interactions between the NE and the glass of the pipette (patch-clamp) or tube (NHT), it seems easier to use fluorescent probes to directly assess the dimension of the leak or gap for the two techniques.

FIGURES

Fig. 1. Ion channels at the nuclear envelope. (a) Schematics of a nucleus-attached patch-clamp recording. A pipette is placed to the cytoplasmic surface of the nucleus and the ion current is recorded while a known voltage is applied between the electrodes inside the pipette and the bath (reference set to ground or zero potential). Under physiological saline, the NPCs (shown as large channels) outside the pipette tip facilitate the virtual grounding of the nucleoplasmic side of the NE. As the dominant pathway for ion flow is that of the NPCs, electrical signals must derive from NPCs. Only when all the NPCs are plugged or closed is that we can say that the recorded ion channel activity derives from ion channels other than NPCs. (b) Diagram illustrating the different channel types that may be found at the NE. The only conspicuous channel under EM and AFM is the NPC. Ion channels at the outer and inner nuclear membranes, ONM and INM, may also contribute to ion fluxes. The arrows show the inward direction of the electrical current (i.e. the movement of positive ions such as K⁺) when the voltage in the cytoplasmic side of the NE is greater than the voltage at the nucleoplasmic side of the NE. When negative ions (e.g. Cl) are the charge carriers, the direction of the electrical current will remain inward, although the ions will move toward the nuclear exterior. When the voltage at the cytoplasmic side is smaller than that at the nucleoplasmic side, the electrical current is outward, the flow of positive ions is outward, but the flow of negative ions is inward. Finally, if there is no voltage gradient, the electrical driving force for the charge carriers is absent and there is no ion flow. As the force determining the movement of ions is electrochemical in origin, ion gradients must be taken into account, as done for classical ion channel currents. To date, patch-clamp data suggests that, under steady-state conditions, the chemical gradient is negligible (Bustamante, 1992; Boehning et al., 2001). Finally, references are made to receptors found at the NE such as for angiotensin II (AT₁), IP₃ (IP₃R), and ryanodine (RyR) as well as to pumps such as Na⁺-K⁺ and Ca²⁺.

http://www.geocities.com/nuclear_electrophysiology/FIG_1_SMALLEST.htm

Fig. 2. Use of fluorescence microscopy to determine the state of ion and macromolecular conduction of nuclear pores. (a, b) Tests for NHT are performed with probes (e.g. Alexa Fluor-Dextrans, Molecular Probes) to determine the relevance of the leak or shunt current and the dimension of the gap. In a, the fluorescent probe passes through the gap between the nucleus and the tube wall but does not enter the nucleus. Therefore, the shunt is too great to assume it negligible (i.e. $R_{shunt} \ll R_{NE}$). In b, the gap is of small dimensions and the molecular interactions between the NE and the tube wall are strong enough to produce a tight seal. Therefore, the shunt is negligible (i.e. $R_{shunt} \gg R_{NE}$). (c, d) Test for patch-clamp are performed with similar probes. When the NPCs are closed or plugged, panel c, the probes cannot enter the nucleus because the NPCs are the only direct route for nucleocytoplasmic transport. Therefore, any ion channel activity recorded derives from the ONM. When the NPCs are open and unplugged (i.e. there is no macromolecular translocation), panel d, the probes go inside the nucleus. Therefore, the ion channel activity derives from NPCs. Under these conditions, the NPCs outside the pipette provide a bypass route that makes the nucleoplasmic side of the NE virtually connected to the bath electrode. Panels e and f demonstrate the use of macromolecular probes (e.g. B-phycoerythrin, Molecular Probes, conjugated to the NLS of the SV40 large T antigen, Sigma Chemical). A macromolecular probe is placed outside the nucleus. Whether or not the molecules enter the nucleus, will indicate that the NPCs are or ar not capable of macromolecular transport.

http://www.geocities.com/nuclear_electrophysiology/FIG_2_SMALLEST.htm

Fig. 3. Tubing system for simultaneous single cell voltage-clamp and intracellular perfusion. (a-d) Images taken with a custom inverted microscope (Bustamante, 1991). The images show the process of forming a seal between the hole in the plastic pipette (e.g. Bustamante & McDonald, 1983) and a neuroblastoma cell (about 20 μm in diameter). (a) Neuroblastoma cells. (b) Low magnification view of the tubing placed over the target cell. (c) High magnification view of the tubing placed just over the target cell, a few seconds prior applying a gentle suction to attract the cell towards the hole in the tube. (d) High magnification view of the cell in the hole ready for voltage-clamp and intracellular perfusion (achieved after a vacuum pulse). From Bustamante (1983). (e) Diagram showing the placement of the two pairs of half-cells, Ag/AgCl electrodes, for the simultaneous recording of current and voltage. The 4-electrode system is a requirement of experimental arrangements where large polarizing currents are used (e.g. Hodgkin and Huxley, 1952). In the voltage-clamp configuration, the detection system incorporates a circuit for the compensation of the resistance in series to the target, R_{series} (e.g. Bustamante and McDonald, 1983).

http://www.geocities.com/nuclear_electrophysiology/FIG_3_SMALLEST.htm

Fig. 4. Computed values for the resistance contributed by the NE and for the shunt resistance using the NHT model. (a) Plot of expected values for the resistance of the NE caps, $R_{\text{NE-caps}}$, with NPC conductance, γ_{NPC} , of 500 pS and with density of ion conducting NPCs set to 10 NPC.μm⁻². (b) Plot of shunt resistance, R_{shunt} , due to the leak of electrolyte between the NE and the wall of the NHT tubing (gap length, L_{gap} , of 100 μm; gap radius, r_{gap} , 100 μm) and between the NE and the tip of the patch-clamp pipette ($L_{\text{gap}} = 0.1$ μm, $r_{\text{gap}} = 1$ μm). The resistivity, ρ , was assumed to be 100 Ω .cm (conductivity= 10 mS.cm⁻¹). The values of gap width, w, used were between 1.0 and 10^{-4} μm. For NHT, R_{shunt} goes between 1.6 MΩ and 15.9 GΩ. For patch-clamp, R_{shunt} goes between 318.3 kΩ and 1.59 GΩ. Therefore, from these models one should expect that the NHT method provided better seal than patch-clamp. However, this is not supported by the experimental observations.

http://www.geocities.com/nuclear_electrophysiology/FIG_4_SMALLEST.htm

Fig. 5. Reduction in shunt resistance induced by current injection simultaneous to intracellular perfusion with fluoride ions. (a, b) Human atrial myocyte placement prior and after its placement inside the hole of a perfusion tube with suction (see Fig. 3). (c) Superimposed storage-oscilloscope traces of membrane potential recorded during current injection of 100 nA and tubing perfusion with buffered 150 mM CsF (see Bustamante and McDonald, 1983). The uppermost and lowermost traces correspond, respectively, to the initial and final (steady-state) levels of the membrane potential of -12 and -102 mV. From these observations can be concluded that R_{shunt} was about 0.1 and 1 MΩ. Without F^{-} inside the tubing, the higher value of R_{shunt} was not attained (Bustamante, 1981). Experiment 81070401.

http://www.geocities.com/nuclear_electrophysiology/FIG_5_SMALLEST.htm

Fig. 6. Theoretical and experimental amplitude histograms for patch-clamp recordings from the nuclear envelope. (a) Binomial distribution histograms (gray bars) for a population of N identical and independent ion conducting channels having two states: open and closed. N was set to 4, 8, 16 and 24 to predict the effect of the putative peripheral channels (thought to be 8 per NPC). The histograms on the left and right columns were generated for single channel open probability, popen, of 50% and 70%, respectively. On the horizontal axis, the relative NE conductance amplitude is given. The number n represents the relative level of conductance (as ion channel opens and closes, their populations will display quantum jumps in the value of NE conductance). Therefore, n corresponds to the number of channels simultaneously open. On the vertical axis, the relative probability of finding the particular value of NE conductance is given. As the measured current is a continuous variable and is contaminated by noise, for each particular level, there is a normal distribution of values described by a Gaussian curve (black bell-shaped curves). The simulations were carried out with the binomial java applet given by Stark (2002). (b) Experimental histograms from 12 experiments. The histograms were generated with pClamp (Axon Instruments). As for our discussion, neither the height nor the width is relevant, to facilitate comparison, the peaks of each histogram were set to the same height. Although the widths of the histograms are the same, they do not necessarily correspond to the same conductance interval because not all channels have the same conductance (e.g. one may be 350, the other may be 450 pS). Finally, note that the NE conductance starts at zero conductance (leftmost point in the axis).

http://www.geocities.com/nuclear_electrophysiology/FIG_6_SMALLEST.htm

Fig. 7. Patch-clamp detection of NE large and small conductance ion channels. (a) Ion current recordings for two experiments with Dunning G prostate cancer cell nuclei showing an NE patch containing 10 channels of 416 pS and a patch containing a channel of 362 pS and a channel of 91 pS. The current signals were generated with 2-s voltage pulses applied between the pipette and the bath electrodes. Note that the onset of the voltage pulse generates a capacitive current that is related to the dielectric and not the ion conducting properties of the NE. (b) Diagram illustrating the two-electrode approach of patch-clamp. One electrode is applied to the inside of the recording pipette and the other is applied to the bath. The electronic apparatus is based on the *virtual-ground* operational amplifier. The electrode inside the pipette receives a known clamp voltage (thus patch-clamp). The bath electrode is used as reference. The voltage difference between the two electrodes contributes to the driving force for the electrical charge carriers. Although the pipette is applied to the ONM, the large number of open NPCs outside the pipette short-circuit, and thus make transparent to the recording, the NE outside the NE patch. Only when all NPCs are closed or plugged (i.e. not allowing ion flow) can we be sure that the recorded ion channel activity derives from sources other than NPCs.

http://www.geocities.com/nuclear_electrophysiology/FIG_7_SMALLEST.htm